
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 31 October 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

Tuesday, 8 November 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 

 
 

 

Agenda 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  

SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

   
2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 

Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2022. 
(Pages 3 - 9) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests  

   

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

 Items for recommendation to Council 
 

4.   Statement of Licensing Principles 2023-2026 
The Council is required to review its Gambling Statement of Principles every 3 

years. This report presents the draft Gambling Statement of Principles 2023-

2026 for comment and the feedback from the required consultation. 

(Pages 11 - 73) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
5.   Housing Compensation Policy 

In common with all social landlords, the Council is obliged in some 
circumstances to make payments to tenants or leaseholders to compensate 
them for loss or inconvenience. The Housing Compensation Policy is intended 
to provide clarity of the circumstances, both discretionary and statutory, where 
it is appropriate such payments will be made. 

(Pages 75 - 103) 

   
6.   Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 has introduced a new statutory definition of 

domestic abuse, which legally requires Council’s to implement it as part of their 

strategic housing responsibilities.  The draft Domestic Abuse Policy sets out 

how the Council will respond to reports of domestic abuse, including both as a 

landlord and when people approach as homeless and for housing advice.   

(Pages 105 - 133) 

   
7.   Contract Award in Relation to Social Landlord Services 

Following a fully compliant procurement process, the Council is now in a 

position to award a contract for the surveying and analytical services in relation 

to Asbestos within the council’s housing stock. This report seeks Cabinet 

approval to award the contract to the successful contractors. 

(Pages 135 - 146) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 

 
8.   Grantham Park Tennis Courts 

To support a new generation of tennis players at grass roots level and revive 

public use, the purpose of this report is to ensure tennis court provision is 

available at Wyndham Park in Grantham, with agreement to call upon 

Grantham’s Special Expense Area to set aside money to cover gate 

maintenance and a three-year sinking fund.   

(Pages 147 - 158) 

   
 Items for information 

 
9.   Cabinet's Forward Plan 

Report of The Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 159 - 167) 

   



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 18 October 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
 
Officers 

 

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 
Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive (Monitoring Officer) 
Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 
Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing 
Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services 
Chris Prime, Communications Manager 
Debbie Roberts, Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and Performance 
James Welbourn, Democratic Services Manager 
Patrick Astill, Communications Officer 
Shaza Brannon, Principal Planning Officer 
Jordan Brooks, IT Help Desk Engineer 
Michael Robinson, IT Apprentice 
 
40. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, 
Mark Whittington and Linda Wootten. 
 
The Leader of the Council provided a brief introduction to the meeting, and 
highlighted the following events: 
 

• The pre-election period, or ‘purdah’ for the by-elections in Bourne East and 
Grantham St. Wulfram’s wards taking place on 10 November 2022 had 
commenced. 

• The Council received a ‘Highly Commended’ award at the 2022 Brownfield 
Awards for the St. Martin’s Park development, Stamford. 

• Work had commenced on the move to the new office space for Council staff. 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

• Grantham had been nominated for an international regeneration award at the 
2023 Urbanism Awards. 

• The work of Council staff in terms of Covid support and recovery had been 
shortlisted at the Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) Local Government 
Awards. 

• The Peer Review Panel had visited the Council for their six-month review, and 
the final report was awaited. 

 
41. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 September 2022 were confirmed as 
a correct record. 
 
42. Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were no declarations of interests at this stage of the meeting. 
 
43. Remediation works for St Martin's Park, Stamford 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To provide the Cabinet with an update regarding the demolition works at the former 
Cummins factory, known as the St. Martin’s Park development scheme, and to 
outline the next steps with remediating the site prior to its disposal.   
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. Notes the update regarding the project. 

2. Recommends to Full Council the budget of £192,630.23, to be met from the 
regeneration reserve, for the additional expenditure incurred in the contract 
with GF Tomlinson for the demolition. Authority to be delegated to the S151 
Officer in consultation with the Leader of the Council to pay for the additional 
works above the original £1.303m. 

3. Notes that Members will receive a subsequent report on the  remediation 
costs once the strategy has been finalised and will seek approval for the 
budget for those works at Full Council.   

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
To not pay GF Tomlinson for these additional items – this would be a breach of 

contract. 

 

 

 

 

4



 

 

Reason for decision 

 

The Council was obligated to demolish and remediate its part of the site at the St. 

Martin’s Park to enable the delivery of housing, a retirement village and commercial 

space. 

 

The construction contract was reviewed at the Finance, Economic Development and 

Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny (FEDCO) meeting held on 27 September 

2022. It was highlighted that there were no contingency monies in the original 

contract. There had been additional unforeseen works which were included in the 

report before members; these needed to be addressed before completing the sales 

contract with the developer. 

 

The following points were raised during discussion: 

 

• The situation with the 1904 building on site at St. Martin’s Park was discussed 

at length at FEDCO at its meeting on 27 September. It was the oldest building 

on the site, and it had originally been hoped that the building could be 

retained. However, following demolition works of the pre-fabricated block 

attached to the 1904 building, it had become apparent that the structural 

integrity of the 1904 building had been compromised. Therefore, it would need 

to be demolished as the costs of retaining the building in its current form would 

be prohibitive. 

• The Council would ensure that the developers of the site recreated the 1904 

building in as close a form as possible to the original layout and look. 

• The St. Martin’s Park development was an excellent initiative within the 

Council’s property portfolio. 

• The project was ‘on-track’ in terms of timescales and there were ongoing 

positive relations with Burghley Estates, the development partners.  

• The aim of the development project was to look for a return on capital, whilst 

providing wider benefits in terms of economic growth for the south of the 

district. It would provide 180 homes of good quality. 

 
 
44. Housing Compensation Policy 
 
It was AGREED by Cabinet that the Housing Compensation Policy would be deferred 
until the 8 November 2022 meeting of Cabinet, due to there being some missing 
information in Appendix One of the report. 
 
45. Housing Recharge Policy 
 
Purpose of report 
 
The Council was required, as a social landlord, to incur costs that arose from works 
which were normally the responsibility of the tenant, including repair of damage, pest 
control, and property cleans and clearances. The Housing Recharge Policy sought to 

5



 

 

define the circumstances where such recharges were appropriate and make clear the 
Council’s intention to recover such costs. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. Notes the content of the report. 
 
2. Approves the Housing Recharge Policy, with the addition of the line “the case 

will be made at Head of Service level and above” at 6.7 of the policy. 
 

3. Delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
amendments to the Housing Recharge Policy as required by changes to 
regulation or legislation. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Doing nothing would leave the Council without a recharge policy in place. This was 
not recommended due to the risk of high costs to the Council if work was undertaken 
and not re-charged. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
The Recharge Policy clearly sets out when a recharge would and would not be made 
and reduced the risk of a high cost of works not recouped in line with the tenant’s 
responsibilities. 
 
The policy covered works that were not within the Council’s responsibility as a 
landlord and were consistent with the tenancy agreement. An example of a breach of 
this policy would be damage by the tenant, to the property. 
 
The policy would allow the Council to recover costs from damage to the property. In 
cases such as this, a pre-inspection would take place in order to give vacating 
tenants as much notice of potential costs as possible. 
 
There would be certain circumstances in which a recharge would not be appropriate, 
for example: 
 

• Where the tenant was a victim of domestic abuse, and the property damage 
was made by the perpetrator.  

• Consideration of vulnerabilities, including mental health issues, would also be 
considered prior to the recovery of recharges. 
 

The current recharge policy was not deemed fit for purpose. 
 
The following points were noted during discussion: 
 

• Employment Committee would be tasked with receiving the training plan for 
staff on use of the policy, in partnership with officers. 

6



 

 

• The consultation for the policy was communicated to tenants through social 
media and Council communications channels. It had been ‘live’ for two weeks, 
the same time period as the Housing Compensation Policy. However, officers 
were also mindful of those tenants who did not use technology, and the policy 
was, and would be, shared through sheltered housing scheme meetings that 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property attended. 

• The Leader of the Council agreed to look at all consultations publicised by the 
Council to ensure that everything possible was in place for residents to 
contribute to these matters. 

• All Council properties met the Housing Service Void Policy and Re-let 
Standard, as approved by Cabinet in January 2022, when they were re-let to 
tenants. There may be some follow-on works identified by the tenant; 
however, the Council would only look to apply recharges where there had 
been a clear breach of the tenancy agreement. 

• The potential for recharges was referenced in tenancy agreements the Council 
held, and this would continue to be the case in future. All Council policies in 
place were available on the Council’s website. 

• Circumstances where a recharge could occur included health and safety 
concerns putting a tenant’s safety was at risk. Examples of this included 
tenants removing or disturbing smoke alarms, and damage to electricity 
supplies which could lead to a fire in the property. 

• Section 6.7 of the draft policy was not clear on who could make a discretionary 
decision when ‘special circumstances’ arose. The Assistant Director for 
Housing clarified that this decision would be taken by the Head of Service, or 
in their absence the Assistant Director for Housing. An addition to the draft 
policy was moved, seconded and approved as part of the recommendations. 

• Once the Council received notice of termination of a tenancy agreement, 
within four weeks of the intention of the tenant to vacate the property a 
Housing Officer would inspect and raise any concerns. There could be hidden 
issues that were picked up post-tenancy, but these would still be addressed. 

 
The Leader of the Council placed on record his thanks for the work on this policy and 
noted that the Council would continue to work closely with the Social Housing 
Regulator. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property noted that the Housing Working 
Group and Tenants’ Liaison Committee were coming together to discuss this policy.  
 
46. Local Development Scheme for the Local Plan 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
seeking approval of a revision to the timetable associated with the Local 
Development Scheme. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet approves the proposals for the revised Local Development Scheme 
2022-2025. 

7



 

 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
The alternative of not reviewing the Local Development Scheme had been 
discounted, as failing to keep the Local Development Scheme up to date would 
contravene the statutory requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Planning Act 
2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) and Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 12. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
The reason for the recommendation was to ensure that the Council was providing an 
up-to-date position and an accurate timeline for the production of the Local 
Development Scheme. This way the Council would be acting in accordance with the 
requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  
 
It was important to establish and maintain a robust timetable for the Local Plan 
review. Supporting the continuity of the planning function in South Kesteven would 
aid the recovery of the local economy and the economic resilience of the district by 
providing greater certainty and confidence for future investment and development.  
 
The Council had a legal duty to ensure the Local Development Scheme was kept up 
to date. As the current Scheme was out of date, it was necessary to update it to 
reflect the changes. This was important because the local community, and others 
with an interest in the district, needed to be aware of the timetable.  
 
Several factors had contributed to the published Local Plan timetable becoming out 
of date. It was worth noting that several Local Authorities had delayed their local 
plans pending the publication of new legislation.  
 
More recently, there had been a delay in the consultants working on some of the 
evidence base, pending the publication of the most recent census data in July 2022. 
Work could have progressed using the previous evidence base, however that would 
have potentially resulted in abortive work or evidence that was already out of date. 
 
Following the adoption of the South Kesteven Local Plan in January 2020, the 
Council embarked on a Local Plan review which addressed South Kesteven’s 
development need until 2041. This review was originally due to be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities by December 2023; 
however, submission was now expected by March 2024. There were risks associated 
with this delay, but they were considered minor. 
 
The Council was obligated to keep the Local Development Scheme up to date; the 
Council had reviewed the Scheme to make sure that the new Local Plan was 
realistic.  
 
Public consultation on the draft South Kesteven Local Plan was expected to 
commence in early 2023. 
 

8



 

 

Following publication of the Scheme, the Council would notify the Secretary of State 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. All Town and Parish Councils would 
also be notified. 
 
The following points were noted during discussion: 
 

• The following pieces of work, key to the Local Plan, had been delayed for a 
variety of reasons: 

o The Village Services and Facilities audit was delayed due to the Covid-
19 pandemic; 

o Gypsy and traveller assessment – delayed due to the Covid-19 
pandemic; 

o The Local Housing Needs assessment had been delayed as the 
release of census data was awaited. 

• There had been a high level of consultation response; this had also 
contributed to the delay, as had uncertainty over the Levelling Up Bill amongst 
government. 

 
47. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
Cabinet noted Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated powers since the 
previous meeting, as set out in the report. 
 
48. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 
Cabinet noted its Forward Plan. 
 
It was noted that the deferred item from today’s proceedings would be added to the 
Forward Plan for November. 
 
Meeting closed at 2:30pm. 
 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet  
 
 

8 November 2022  
 

Report of Councillor Linda Wootten  

Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Governance and Licensing 
 

 

 

Statement of Licensing Principles 2023-2026  
 

Report Author 

Heather Green, Licensing Team Leader 

 licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

The Council is required to review its Gambling Statement of Principles every 3 years. This 
report presents the draft Gambling Statement of Principles 2023-2026 for comment and the 
feedback from the required consultation.   
 

 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

1. Consider the proposed updates to the Gambling Statement of Principles and 
consultation feedback.  

2. Recommend, with or without amendments, that the revised South Kesteven District 
Council Gambling Statement of Principles 2023-2026 is suitable to be presented to 
Full Council for adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11

Agenda Item 4

mailto:licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Healthy and strong communities 

 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, community safety, 

mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s declaration of a climate change 

emergency, the following implications have been identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. The costs 

associated with delivering the Licensing service are recovered through licensing fees 

which are reviewed annually by the Council.  

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 Section 349 of the Act requires the Council to prepare a Statement of Principles to cover 

each successive period of three years. The Statement must contain the principles that 

it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Act during that period. The 

Council must then publish the Statement. 

 

1.3 In preparing its Statement the Council must have regard to the Statutory Guidance. This 

Guidance cannot anticipate every set of circumstances that may arise, and licensing 

authorities may depart from it where they consider it would be right to do so. However, 

there should be strong reasons for doing so which will need to be clearly expressed and 

explained if a licensing authority is to avoid judicial review or challenge on appeal for 

failing to take the Guidance into account. 

 

1.4 The Act specifies that the Statement of Principles must be agreed by Council and cannot 

be delegated to the Licensing Committee (section 154 of the Act). 

 

 

 

 

12



Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.5 An initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken and reviewed following the 

consultation, no significant negative impacts have been identified.  This is attached in 

Appendix 5.  

 

Community Safety  

 

1.6 It is important that the public, businesses in the locality and those using establishments 

where gambling is available can do so safely.  The Statement outlines requirements 

stated within the Gambling Act and Local Authority Guidance that puts into place 

conditions and standards to protect users and those identified as vulnerable to maintain 

community safety. 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 Licensing Authorities licence gambling premises and issue a range of permits to 

authorise gambling facilities in the area.  

 

2.2 The Gambling Act 2005 (the “Act”) requires Licensing Authorities on or before each 

successive period of three years, to prepare a Statement of Principles (the “Statement”) 

that they propose to apply in the exercise of their functions under the Act and to publish 

that Statement.  The last Statement was published in January 2020. 

 

2.3 In formulating the Statement, the Authority must have regard to the statutory guidance 

issued by the Gambling Commission.  Once adopted, the Statement is the guiding 

principle for Members and Officers when applying the Act.  

 

2.4 The Statement sets out the general approach the Council will take when carrying out its 

regulatory role under the Act and promoting the three licensing objectives:  

 

- Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime; 

 

- Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 

 

- Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling. 

 

2.5 The current Statement has been reviewed to ensure it reflects the current local profile 

and guidance and continues to be fit for purpose whilst promoting improvements.  There 

are no changes proposed to the intent or direction of the Statement.  

 

2.6 The draft Statement is at Appendix 1, with proposed revisions to the current Statement 

in red text.  Appendix 2 outlines the proposed changes in detail. 

 

13



2.7 The process for reviewing the Statement and the requirement to consult and advertise 

are outlined in the Act and supporting Regulations.  Public consultation commenced on 

22 August 2022 for a period of four weeks, ending on 18 September 2022.   

 

2.8 The draft Statement was considered by Licensing Committee on 19 August 2022 as part 

of the consultation process.  The Licensing Committee had no adverse comments. 

 

2.9 The draft Statement was reviewed following the consultation feedback and was 

considered by Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 11 October 2022.  The 

Committee agreed that the draft Statement was suitable for presentation to Cabinet.  

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 There are no changes proposed to the intent or direction of the Statement of Principles.  

 

3.2 The review has been undertaken in line with legislative requirements and to ensure that 

it reflects the current local profile and continues to promote improvements, whilst 

continuing to be fit for purpose.  

 

3.3  Failure to review the Statement and agree a new 3-year Statement would mean that the 

Council would not be fulfilling its statutory obligations.  

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1  Failure to undertake a review of the Statement would mean that this aspect of the 

Licensing Authority’s operation is not compliant with legislative requirements.   

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 To ensure that that the Council meets its obligations under Section 349 of the Act to 

review the Statement every 3 years. 

 

5.2 The development of the revised Statement has been overseen by the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the involvement of the Licensing Committee.  

Public consultation has demonstrated support for the revised document. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 As required by the Act, a range of “Responsible Authorities” and other “Interested 

Parties” were consulted on the proposed revisions. Details of the consultation were 

placed on the Council’s website; a public notice was placed in the Grantham Journal 

and Stamford Mercury along with promotion via the Council’s social media channels.  

 

14



6.2 The public consultation focused on gambling permit/licence holders, other relevant 

stakeholders, and the public. A list of consultees can be found in the consultation 

feedback report at Appendix 3 

 

6.3 In determining the Statement, the Statutory Guidance requires that the Licensing 

Authority give appropriate weight to the views of the consultees. In deciding what weight 

to give, the factors to be considered include:  

 

•  who is making the representations, the nature of their interest and their expertise? 

•  relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives;  

•  how many other people have expressed the same or similar views?  

• how far the representations relate to matters that the licensing authority should be 

including in its statement. 

 

6.4      13 replies were received 

 

- Residents       7 responses  

- Town and/or Parish Councils   5 responses 

- Representing another group or organisation 1 response 

 

No responses were received from Statutory Consultees or anyone identifying as an 

existing Licence Holder.  

 

6.5 A consultation report has been produced (Appendix 3). This shows overall support for 

the draft Statement. Where comments have been made these are provided in Appendix 

4 with associated responses. One amendment to the Draft Statement of Principles is 

proposed as a result of the consultation and is shown in green text.  

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 Gambling Statement of Principles 2019 – 2022 (available on Council website) 

7.2  Non Key Decision - To undertake Gambling Statement of Principles Consultation - July 
2022 

 
7.3 Licensing Committee - 19 August 2022  
 
7.4 Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 11 October 2022 
 
 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Gambling Statement of Principles  

8.2 Appendix 2 – Proposed revisions to the existing Gambling Statement of Principles  

8.3 Appendix 3 – Consultation Report   

8.4      Appendix 4 – Responses and proposed amendments following consultation  

15



8.5 Appendix 5 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment  

 

 

16



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Gambling Statement of Principles 
 

2023-2026 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Principles to be applied in exercising licensing functions under the Gambling Act 
2005 

 
 

Date  Version Approver Comments 

09/03/2022 1.0  Review- draft for consultation  

11/10/2022 2.0 Environment Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee  

Review – following completion of 
consultation 

 

17

Appendix One



 

 2 

 
 
Contents 

1.       Introduction ........................................................................................................... 5 

2.       Information Sharing and Data Protection .............................................................. 5 

3.       Whistleblowing...................................................................................................... 6 

4.       Integrating other Guidance, Policies and Strategies ............................................. 6 

Part A – Gambling Licensing .......................................................................................... 6 

1. The Licensing Objectives ..................................................................................... 6 

2.   Statement of Principles ........................................................................................ 7 

3.       Licensing Committees .......................................................................................... 8 

4.       Declaration ........................................................................................................... 8 

5.       Responsible Authorities ........................................................................................ 8 

6.       Interested parties and Representations ................................................................ 9 

7.       Risk Assessments .............................................................................................. 10 

8.       Local Area Profile ............................................................................................... 11 

9.  Inspection and Enforcement ............................................................................... 11 

Part B - Premises Licences .......................................................................................... 13 

1.       General Principles .............................................................................................. 13 

2.       Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) ............................................................................ 17 

3.       Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) ................................................. 18 

4.       Casinos .............................................................................................................. 18 

5.       Bingo premises ................................................................................................... 18 

6.       Betting premises (off-course) .............................................................................. 19 

7.      Tracks ................................................................................................................. 19 

8.      Travelling Fairs .................................................................................................... 20 

9.      Provisional Statements ........................................................................................ 20 

10.    Reviews ............................................................................................................... 21 

11.    Appeals ............................................................................................................... 21 

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries ............................... 23 

1.  Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (uFEC) gaming machine permits ........ 23 

2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits and notifications ................ 23 

3. Prize Gaming ..................................................................................................... 24 

4.       Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits .......................................................... 24 

5.       Temporary Use Notices ...................................................................................... 25 

6.       Occasional Use Notices ...................................................................................... 25 

7.       Lotteries.............................................................................................................. 25 

8.       Review ............................................................................................................... 26 

APPENDIX 1 – DELEGATED AUTHORITY ................................................................. 27 

APPENDIX 2 - GLOSSARY OF TERMS UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005 ............ 29 

APPENDIX 3 – SUMMARY OF GAMING MACHINE CATEGORIES ............................ 31 

 
 

18



 

 3 

 
 
 
Executive Summary  
 

Gambling is controlled in accordance with the provisions contained in Gambling Act 2005.  
 
In accordance with legislation, this Statement of Principles will be reviewed every three 
years.  In the interim, minor amendments to the Statement of Principles, such as legislative 
updates, which may become necessary from time to time to ensure its continued accuracy, 
but do not affect its direction or intent may be made in accordance with delegated authority.  
 
This Statement of Principles is important in ensuring that the operation of premises where 
gambling has been permitted operates safely and supports a number of the priorities in the 
councils Corporate Plan;  
 

• Growth of the Economy 

• Healthy & Strong Communities 

• Housing that meets the needs of all residents  

• Clean & Sustainable Environment 

• A High Performing Council  
 

By promoting  
 

• Public safety - to protect public health, the health and safety and welfare of 
members of the public. 

• The prevention of crime and disorder - to support licence holders to promote 
responsible gambling and preventing problem gambling that can led to crime or anti-
social behaviour.   

• The prevention of public nuisance - to prevent nuisance, inconvenience, or 
disturbance to members of the public.  
 

This Statement of Principles covers the licensable activity of Gambling as specified in the 
Act as Gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery.  

 

• Gaming means playing a game of chance for a prize. 

• Betting means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, 

or any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether 

anything is true or not. 

• A lottery is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an 

arrangement during the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a 

process which relies wholly on chance. 

 
Decisions will be taken in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, this may include, 
either the Licensing Committee or Officers using delegated powers. Where relevant, the 
Licensing Authority consults with the responsible authorities as described in the Act.  
 
Notwithstanding the existence of this Statement of Principles, each application or 
enforcement measure will be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the 
Authority to depart substantially from its Statement of Principles, clear and compelling 
reasons shall be given for doing so. 
 

19



 

 4 

South Kesteven District Council has reviewed the previous policy and consultation 
responses in preparing this Statement of Principles which is based, in part, on the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, issued by the Gambling Commission and the intention 
is to formally adopt it from January 2023.  
 
 
  

20



 

 5 

1.      Introduction 
 

1.1 South Kesteven is one of seven districts in Lincolnshire with a population of around 
142,000.  Two thirds of people live in the four main towns of Grantham, Stamford, 
Bourne and the Deepings with the remaining third living in one of over 80 villages and 
hamlets.  With an area of 365 square miles, it is one of the largest districts in the 
county. 
 

1.2 South Kesteven District Council (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Licensing Authority’) 
is responsible for the licensing of premises and the issue of permits and 
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’).   

 
1.3  The Licensing Authority functions under the Act are to: 

• Licence premises for gambling activities; 
• Consider notices given for the temporary use of premises for gambling; 
• Grant permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and miners’ welfare 

institutes; 
• Regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol-licensed premises; 
• Grant permits to family entertainment centres (FECs) for the use of certain 

lower stake gaming machines; 
• Grant permits for prize gaming; 
• Consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks; 
• Register small societies’ lotteries; 
• Provide information to the Gambling Commission and HM Revenue & 

Customs; 
• Maintain Registers of licences, permits and registrations.  

1.4 This Statement of Principles is intended to provide clarity to applicants, interested 
parties and Responsible Authorities on how this Licensing Authority will determine 
applications. Guidance is available to assist applicants but does not form part of this 
Statement of Principles. 

 
2.      Information Sharing and Data Protection  
  
2.1  The Licensing Authority works in partnership and exchanges information (per Section 

350 of the Act) with the Gambling Commission, The National Lottery Commission, 
other law enforcement agencies such as the Police, HM Revenue and Customs, 
Secretary of State, First Tier Tribunal, other Licensing Authorities as well as sharing 
information with other Council departments or regulatory bodies where appropriate.   

 
2.2 The Licensing Authority is legally required to provide information if requested, 

pursuant to a criminal offence, or to detect fraud, or immigration offences. 
 
2.3 Details of premises issued with a gambling licence may be published on the Licensing 

Authority’s website.  This may include the name of the business operator, location etc 
to enable the public to be aware of the premises and the type of gambling that has 
been licenced.   

 
2.4 The Licensing Authority complies fully with its obligations under the General Data 

Protection Regulation (GDPR), Data Protection Act 2018 and other relevant 
legislation pertaining to the safe handling, use, storage, retention and disposal of 
information and has a written Statement of Principles on these matters, which is 
available to those who wish to see it on request.  

21



 

 6 

 
2.5  The Licensing Authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission to Licensing Authorities as well as any relevant regulations issued by 
the Secretary of State under powers provided by the Act.   

  
3.      Whistleblowing  
 
3.1 The Licensing Authority takes wrongdoing very seriously. Hotlines have been 

established to allow staff, councillors and the public to raise concerns. Though reports 
can be raised anonymously, individuals are encouraged to leave as much information 
as possible to assist with the investigation. The Licensing Authority’s Whistleblowing 
policy is available at www.southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 
4.      Integrating other Guidance, Policies and Strategies 
 
4.1 The Licensing Authority may implement other polices, strategies and initiatives that 

may impact on the activity within the remit of this Statement of Principles statement.  
Subject to the general principles of this Statement of Principles statement, the 
Licensing Committee may have to have regard to them when making licensing 
decisions.    

 
4.2 By consulting widely prior to this Statement of Principles being published and working 

with our partners at all levels, it is hoped this will generate an alignment between this 
Statement of Principles and any that may be developed by partner agencies. 

 
4.3 In reaching a decision, of whether to grant a gambling licence, the Licensing Authority 

will take account of any non-compliance with other statutory requirements brought to 
its attention.  Non-compliance with statutory requirements may demonstrate that the 
activity proposed, or that the management of such is not appropriate to protect the 
public from harm or nuisance. 

 
Part A – Gambling Licensing 
 
1. The Licensing Objectives 
 
1.1  In exercising most of their functions under the Act, Licensing Authorities must have 

regard to the Licensing Objectives as set out in Part 1, Section 1 of the Act and within 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  The Licensing 
Objectives are: 

 

• To prevent gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

• To ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 

• To protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling. 

 
1.2 The Gambling Commission has the power to issue two types of code of practice. 

These being:  

• A social responsibility code (SR code) must be followed and has the force of a 
licence condition; 

 

• An ordinary code (OC code), which is intended to set out good industry practice.  
 

22

www.southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 7 

They are not mandatory, but operators are expected to follow them unless they 
have alternative arrangements in place that they can demonstrate are equally 
effective.  

 
Both codes are set out in the Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice  
(LCCP) or as Gambling Codes of Practice - Consolidated for all forms of gambling. 
 

2.   Statement of Principles  
 

2.1   The Act provides for three categories of licence 

• Operating Licences; 

• Personal Licences; 

• Premises Licences. 
 

The Gambling Commission, in general terms, is responsible for issuing Operating 
Licences and Personal Licences. The Licensing Authority is responsible for issuing 
Premises Licences.  In addition to Premises licences, the Licensing Authority is also 
responsible for granting permits, temporary and occasional use notices and 
registrations under the Act.  
  

2.2 This Statement of Principles sets out how the Licensing Authority will apply the 
principles when making decisions about applications or notifications made in relation 
to:  

• Premises Licences; 

• Temporary and Occasional Use Notices; 

• Permits as required under the Act; 

• Registrations as required under the Act.  
 
2.3 The Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, and it will endeavour to be: 

• Proportionate - regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies 
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 

• Accountable - regulators must be able to justify decisions and be subject to 
public scrutiny; 

• Consistent - rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 

• Transparent - regulators should be open and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly; 

• Targeted - regulation should be focused on the problem and minimise side 
effects. 

 
2.4 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms of 

the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and 
other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission will be the 
enforcement body for the Operator and Personal Licences.  Concerns about the 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the 
Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 

 
2.5 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities this Licensing 

Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.   

 

23

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/LCCP/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.aspx


 

 8 

2.6 The Licensing Authority, when making decisions about Premises Licences, is 
required by Section 153 of the Act to aim to permit the use of premises for gambling 
in so far as it thinks it is in accordance with: 

 

• The Licensing Objectives; 

• Any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission; 

• Any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 

• The principles set out in this Statement of Principles. 
 

3.      Licensing Committees   

 
3.1  Licensing Committees established under Part 2, Section 6 of the Licensing Act 2003   

are also the relevant Committees for the purpose of gambling functions.  Therefore, 
the same Committee that deals with applications and other issues in relation to the 
Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible for Premises Licence applications and 
other issues (e.g. permits) in relation to gambling. 

 

3.2 The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are regulated by Part 2, Section 9 of 
the Licensing Act 2003 and regulations made under that section.  Particular provision 
can be made for proceedings relating solely to the Licensing Act 2003 functions or 
just the Gambling Act 2005 functions. 

 
3.3  The functions of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by the 

Licensing Committee, by a Sub-Committee or by one or more officers acting under 
delegated authority.  Delegated powers shall be in accordance with the table at 
Appendix 1 of this document.  

 

4.      Declaration 
 
4.1    In producing this Statement of Principles, the Licensing Authority declares that it has 

had regard to the licensing objectives of the Act, the guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; and any responses from those consulted on this statement. 

 
4.2 It should be noted that this Statement of Principles will not override the right of any 

person to make an application, make representations about an application, or apply 
for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and according 
to the statutory requirement of the Act.  

 
5.      Responsible Authorities 

 
5.1 Responsible authorities are public bodies that must be notified of applications and 

that are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority if they are relevant 
to the licensing objectives.  

Section.157 of the Act identifies those authorities as:  

(a) The Gambling Commission; 
(b) The Chief Officer of Police for the area in which the premises are situated; 
(c)   The Fire and Rescue Authority;  
(d) The local Planning Authority;  
(e) Environmental Health; 
(f)   The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board;   
(g) HM Revenue & Customs;  
(h) A Licensing Authority in whose area the premises is situated. 

24



 

 9 

5.2 An applicant can apply for a “provisional statement” if the building is not complete, or 
the applicant doesn’t have a right to occupy it.  Such an application is however a 
separate and distinct process to the granting of planning permission or building 
control approval.  

5.3  The lack of planning permission does not prevent an applicant from applying for a 
premises licence and does not preclude an application for a premises licence being 
issued.  The Gambling Commission guidance to Licensing Authorities advises that 
when granting a licence the licensing authority must be satisfied that the premises 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the near future.  

6.    Interested parties and Representations 
 

6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications or apply for a 
review of an existing licence.  Interested parties are defined in the Act as someone 
who: 

 
(a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 

authorised activities; 
(b) Has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities; 
(c) Represents persons who satisfy the two groups in 6.3 below.  

 
6.2  In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to a particular premises so 

as to be affected, the Licensing Authority will take into account, among other things:  
 

• The size of the premises; 

• The nature of the premises; 

• The potential impact of the premises such as the number of customers, routes 
likely to be taken by visiting the establishment;  

• The distance of the premises from the person making the representation;  

• The circumstances of the person who lives close to the premises, their interests 
which may be relevant to the distance from the premises.  

 

6.3 The Licensing Authority, in determining whether a person is an Interested Party, will 
consider each case on its merits.  It will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making 
and will consider the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities:  

 
“Business interests” will be given its widest possible interpretation and may include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

 
“Interested parties” can be persons who are democratically elected such as 
Councillors and MPs.  This will include County, District and Town or Parish 
Councillors providing they represent the ward likely to be affected.  Other than these 
persons, the Licensing Authority will require written evidence that a person represents 
someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected 
by the authorised activity(ies) and / or has business interest(s) that might be affected 
by the authorised activity(ies).  A letter from one of these persons requesting the 
representation is sufficient. 

 
6.4   The Licensing Authority will not generally view bodies such as trade associations and 

trade unions, and residents and tenant’s associations as interested parties unless 

25



 

 10 

they have a member who can be classed as an interested party e.g. lives sufficiently 
close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the activities being applied for.  
 

6.5   Details of those making representations will be made available to applicants to allow 
for negotiation and, in the event of a hearing being held, will form part of the public 
document.  Anyone making representations or applying for the review of a premises 
licence will be informed that their details will be disclosed.  

6.6  When considering applications for premises licences the Licensing Authority cannot 
take into consideration “irrelevant matters”, any representations it considers to be 
frivolous or vexatious.  

6.7  A vexatious representation is generally one that is without foundation, or made for 
some other reason, such as malice. A frivolous representation is generally one that 
is without substance, lacking in seriousness, unrelated to the licensing objectives, the 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, or this Statement of Principles. 
Decisions on whether representations are frivolous or vexatious will generally be a 
matter of fact, given the circumstances of the representation. 

 
7.   Risk Assessments  
 
7.1  The Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP issued 

October 2020) requires operators to consider the local risks to their application.  
 
7.2  As part of the application process licensees are required to submit a local risk 

assessment when applying for a new premises application.  An exception to this may 
be Racing tracks, as they are not required to have an operating licence unless they 
are providing facilities for betting themselves.  An updated risk assessment must be 
submitted:  

 

• When applying for premises licence; 

• To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 
identified in a licensing authority Statement of Principles statement; 

• When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect 
their mitigation of local risks. 

 
7.3   Guidance supporting the Act advises that considerations relating to disabled access 

should not be attached to licences as this would duplicate existing statutory 
requirements.  Operators are therefore reminded of their duties under Equality 
legislation that any person who provides a service to the public must make 
reasonable adjustments to a physical feature that makes it impossible or 
unreasonably difficult for a disabled person to access a service, or to provide the 
service by a reasonable alternative means. This should be considered as part of a 
risk assessment.  

 
7.4 The risk assessment will set out the measures the licensee has in place to address 

specific issues where concerns exist over new or existing risk and demonstrate the 
applicant has considered, as a minimum: 

 

• local crime statistics; 

• any problems in the area relating to gambling establishments; 

• the location of any nearby sensitive premises, such as hostels and other 
facilities used by vulnerable persons e.g. drug and alcohol addictions; 

26



 

 11 

• the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 
leisure/community centres and other areas where children will gather  

• whether there is any indication of problems in the area with young persons 
attempting to access adult gambling facilities of that type of gambling premises 
in the area; 

• how vulnerable people, including people with gambling dependencies are 
protected; 

• whether there is a prevalence of street drinking in the area, which may increase 
the risk of vulnerable persons using the premises; 

• any indication in the area of young people attempting to access adult gambling 
facilities of the type offered in the area. 

 
7.5 The Licensing Authority may require a licensee to share their risk assessment with 

the authority. Adopting a proactive approach Licensing Authorities and licensees 
should be able to reduce the occasions on which a premises review is required.  

 
8.     Local Area Profile  
 
8.1  The following local area profile has been included to facilitate operators to understand 

the area of South Kesteven. However, applicants are expected to have a good 
understanding of the area in which they either operate or intend to operate.  Providing 
evidence that they meet the criteria set out in this Statement of Principles and that in 
the operating of the premises they will promote the licensing objectives.  

 
8.2 At the time of reviewing this Statement of Principles South Kesteven had the following 

Premises Licences and Permits: 
 

Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 1 

Alcohol Licensed Premises Notifications of up 
to 2 Gaming Machines  

94 

Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permits – over 2 machines  

10 

Betting Premises 9 

Bingo Premises  1 

Club Gaming Machine Permits  7 

Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 1 

Prize Gaming Permit (Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment) 

2 

Small Society Lotteries 147 

 
8.3  The district does not have any racecourses.  Given there are racecourses in 

neighbouring authorities it could be assumed that there isn’t the demand for further 
expansion in this form of gambling.  Should a racecourse be developed arrangements 
will be made to ensure that it has a low impact on the life of the district.  

 
8.4  At the time of preparing this Statement of Principles, there has been no evidence 

presented to the Licensing Authority to suggest that any part of the area has or is 
experiencing problems from gambling activities.  The position will be kept under 
review and if it changes, research will be carried out to discover the extent of the 
problems and to prepare an Area Profile accordingly.   

 

9.  Inspection and Enforcement  
 

27



 

 12 

9.1 It is essential that premises are monitored to ensure that they are run in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act, Codes of Practice and in compliance with any licensing 
conditions. Inspection and enforcement activities will be targeted in terms of risk and 
so as best to promote the licensing objectives.   

 
9.2   The Licensing Authority will consider formal action where there is evidence that the 

Licensing Objectives are being adversely affected which could lead to a review of the 
Premises Licence.  

 
9.3 The Licensing Authority will inform the Gambling Commission without delay if:  

 

• Information that causes the Licensing Authority to question the suitability of a 
person or business holding or applying to hold an Operating Licence is received; 

• There are persistent or serious disorder problems that an Operator could or 
should do more to prevent so that the Commission may consider the continuing 
suitability of the operator to hold an Operating Licence; 

• It comes to the Licensing Authority’s attention that alcohol-licensed premises, 
clubs or institutes are playing bingo during the course of a week stakes and 
prizes totalling £2,000 in seven days is being exceeded.  

 
9.4 Enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s own 

enforcement Statement of Principles which reflects the agreed principles that are 
consistent with the Regulatory Code.   

 
9.5 The Licensing Authority will seek to work actively with the Gambling Commission, 

Lincolnshire Police and other responsible authorities where appropriate in enforcing 
licensing,  

 
9.6  The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and Personal 

Licences.  
 

9.7 Concerns regarding the manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be 
dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 

28



 

 13 

Part B - Premises Licences 
 

1.      General Principles 
  

1.1 Whilst Licensing Authorities are required to ‘aim to permit’ gambling, there is wide 
scope for them to impose conditions on Premises Licences or to reject, review or 
revoke Premises Licences where there is clear evidence of conflict with the relevant 
Codes of Practice, Guidance to Licensing Authorities, the licensing objectives or this 
Gambling Statement of Principles. 

 
1.2 Licensing authorities can request any information from an operator they may require 

in order to make licensing decisions.  The Act requires a minimum level of information 
which must be provided, but the Gambling Commission state in their Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities that this does not preclude licensing authorities from making 
reasonable requests for any additional information they may require to satisfy 
themselves their decision is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
Codes of Practice.  

 

1.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, “…moral or ethical 
objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences”.  Unmet demand is not a criterion for a Licensing Authority but 
considerations in terms of the Licensing Objectives are relevant to its decision 
making.  

 
1.4 Premises Licences authorise the provision of gambling facilities on the following: 
 

• Casino premises; 

• Bingo premises; 

• Betting premises (including racetracks used by betting intermediaries); 

• Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs); 

• Family Entertainment Centres (FECs). 
 

1.5   Section 152 of the Act defines “Premises” to be “any place” but prevents more than 
one premises licence applying to any place.  There is no reason in principle why a 
single building could not be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they 
are for different parts of the building, and the different parts of the building can 
reasonably be regarded as being different premises 

 
1.6  The Licensing Authority will review the sub-division of a single building or plot to 

ensure compliance with the mandatory conditions relating to access between 
premises.  Areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for example 
by ropes or moveable partitions, will not be considered as different premises. 
 

1.7 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: 
 
When considering applications for multiple premises licences for a building and those 
relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In 
particular they should be aware of the following:  

 

• The licensing objective to protect children from being harmed by gambling, 
meaning not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also 
preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling.  Therefore, premises 
should be configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have 
accidental access to, or closely observe gambling where they are prohibited 

29

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


 

 14 

from participating. 
 

• Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised, and people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.  In 
this context it should normally be possible to access the premises without going 
through another licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

 

• Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises 
licence. 

 

1.8 The Guidance also gives a list of factors that a licensing authority should consider 
when determining whether two or more proposed premises are truly separate which 
may include: 

 

• Is a separate registration for business rates in place for the premises? 

• Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone 
else? 

• Can each of the premises by accessed from the street or a public passageway? 

• Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises? 
 

The Licensing Authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision. 
 

1.9  The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type, 
stated within their Guidance to Local Authorities, are reproduced below: 

 
Casinos 

• The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined 
at 7.23 of the guidance); 

• No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly 
by children and/or young persons; 

• No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises 
which holds a gambling premises licence. 

 
Adult gaming centres 

• No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 
licensed gambling premises. 

 
Betting Shops 

• Access must be from a street (as defined at 7.23 of the guidance) or from another 
premises with a betting premises licence; 

• No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale 
of merchandise or services.  In effect there cannot be an entrance to a betting 
shop from a shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back 
of a café – the whole area would have to be licensed. 

 
Tracks 

• No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
o A casino. 
o An adult gaming centre. 

 

 

30



 

 15 

Bingo premises 

• No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
o A casino. 
o An adult gaming centre. 
o A betting premises, other than a track. 

 
Family Entertainment Centre 

• No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
o A casino. 
o An adult gaming centre. 
o A betting premises, other than a track. 

 
Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities contains 
further guidance which this Licensing Authority will also take into account in its 
decision making. 

 

1.10  Licensing Objectives 
  

Premises Licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the Licensing 
Objectives.   
 
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime  
 
The Gambling Commission takes a leading role in preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime. However, the Guidance to Licensing Authorities does envisage that 
Licensing Authorities will pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this Licensing Objective.   
 
Applicants are encouraged to discuss the crime prevention procedures in their 
premises with the Licensing Authority (South Kesteven District Council’s Licensing 
Team) and Lincolnshire Police before making a formal application.  

 
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  
 
The Gambling Commission does not expect licensing authorities to be involved with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  This will be a matter for 
the Gambling Commission to consider through the operating and/or personal 
licences.  
 
Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the Gambling 
Commission, the Licensing Authority may, in certain circumstances require licence 
conditions which ensure that the environment in which betting takes place is suitable.  
  
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling  
 
The access of children and young persons to those gambling premises which are 
adult only environments will not be permitted.  The Gambling Commission has issued 
a number of Codes of Practices for each sector of the gaming industry to ensure that 
children and young people do not access adult only environments.  

 
The Licensing Authority will consider whether any measures are necessary to protect 
children when considering whether to grant a premises licence or permit.  Evidence 

31



 

 16 

may be requested from the operator to show how any relevant code of practice will 
be complied with in respect of the premises in question.  
 
In seeking to protect vulnerable people the Licensing Authority will include people 
who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means and 
people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling, 
perhaps due to a mental health impairment, alcohol or drugs in the absence of a 
definition of ‘vulnerable persons’ by the Gambling Commission.    
 

1.11 Numbers and categories of gaming machines are outlined Section 172 of the Act 
prescribing the number and category of gaming machines that are permitted in each 
type of gambling premises licensed by authorities. Neither the Commission nor 
Licensing Authorities have the power to set different limits or further expand or restrict 
the categories of machine that are permitted. In addition, limits are set separately in 
the Act for certain types of permits issued by Licensing Authorities.  
 
Appendix 3 outlines each category of gaming machine, the maximum stake and 
winnings.  
 

1.12 Conditions  
 

Decisions about individual conditions will be made on a case-by-case basis, although 
there will be a number of measures the Licensing Authority will consider utilising 
should there be a perceived need, such as the use of Door Supervisors and 
appropriate signage for adult-only areas etc.  There are specific comments made in 
this regard under some of the licence types below.  The Licensing Authority will also 
expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to the way in which 
the licensing objectives can be met effectively. 
 
Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and be: 
 

• Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility; 

• Directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

• Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises;. 

• Reasonable in all other respects. 
 

The Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be required 
for buildings which are subject to multiple Premises Licences.  This may include the 
supervision of entrances, segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas 
frequented by children and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.   

 
Where Category C or above machines are on offer in premises to which children are 
admitted the following conditions will apply: 

 

• All such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance 

• Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located 

• Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised 

• The area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by the staff or the licence holder 

32



 

 17 

• At the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
A category C machine has a minimum bet of £1.00 and a maximum prize of £100.00.  

 

Betting Tracks may be subject to one or more than one Premises Licence, provided 
each Licence relates to a specified area of the track.  The Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, refers to Licensing Authority’s considering the 
impact upon the third Licensing Objective, (i.e. the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling), and the need to 
ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 
 
It is noted that there are conditions which this Licensing Authority cannot attach to 
premises licences which are: 

 

• Any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with 
an operating licence condition  

• Conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation 

• Conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated) 

• Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes.   
 
1.13 Door Supervisors  
 

If there are concerns that premises may attract disorder or be subject to unauthorised 
access by children and young persons, then door supervisors controlling entrances 
to the premises may be required.  Each premises application shall be treated on its 
own merit, taking into account the previous trading history of the type of premises 
proposed and that any decision shall be necessary and proportionate. 

 
1.14 Where door supervisors are imposed as a condition on a premises licence (except 

casino or bingo premises), Part 8, Section 178 of the Act requires that any person 
employed in that capacity will hold a relevant licence issued by the Security Industry 
Authority (SIA). 

 
2.     Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 
 
2.1 Premises licensed as an Adult Gaming Centre are permitted to provide an unlimited 

amount of category D and C machines and up to 20 percent of the total machines 
can be category B machines.  Persons under the age of 18 years are not permitted 
to enter.  The need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm and/or being 
exploited by gambling is an important licensing objective.   

 
2.2 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to adopt an approved proof of age 

scheme (such as Challenge 21) for staff to be suitably trained and aware of the 
gambling laws, social responsibility and statutory requirements relating to age 
restrictions.  Other measures may be required to meet the licensing objectives such 
as: 

 

• CCTV. 

33



 

 18 

• Supervision of entrances / machine areas (e.g. use of door supervisors). 

• Physical separation of areas. 

• Location of entry. 

• Notices / signage.   

• Specific opening hours. 

• Self-exclusion schemes. 

• Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare, the National Gambling Helpline.  

 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 

3.     Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 
 
3.1 Children and young persons are permitted to enter an FEC and may play on Category 

D machines.  They are not permitted to play on Category C machines, and it is a 
requirement that there is clear segregation between the two types of machine to 
prevent access by children and young persons to Category C machines. 

 
3.2 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this Licensing Authority will consider 

measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare appropriate.  

 
3.3 The Licensing Authority requires applicants to provide evidence to show that direct 

supervision of FEC areas is in place whether using a premises licence or permit. 
 
3.4 This Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to 

the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences 
covering the way in which the area containing the Category C machines should be 
delineated.  

 
4.      Casinos 
 
4.1 The Licensing Authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of 

the Act.    
 
4.2 Should the licensing authority decide in future to pass such a resolution, approved by 

Full Council, this Statement of Principles will be updated with details of that resolution.  
 
4.3  There is no right of appeal against this resolution.  
 
5.      Bingo premises 
 
5.1 The primary purpose of a Bingo premises licence is to permit the premises to be used 

for the playing of Bingo.  Such premises are permitted to make any number of 
Category C & D machines available for use and up to 20 percent of the total machines 
can be category B machines.  

 
5.2 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, provides information 

about the splitting of a pre-existing premises and category B gaming machines in one 
of the resulting premises.   

 

34



 

 19 

5.3 Children and young persons are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo 
however, they are not permitted to participate in any gambling other than on Category 
D machines.  Where Category C or above machines are available for use these must 
be separated from areas where children and young people are admitted. 

 

5.4 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
the Licensing Authority will require that: 

 

• All such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

• Only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

• Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• The area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by staff of the Operator or the Licence holder; and  

• At the entrance to and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
5.5 Where bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed premises and it reaches a certain 

threshold, it will no longer be authorised as equal chance gaming and a Bingo 
Operating Licence will need to be obtained from the Gambling Commission.  This is 
to prevent bingo becoming a predominant commercial activity on non-gambling 
premises. 

 

6.      Betting premises (off-course) 
 
6.1 Off course betting premises are any premises licensed to accept bets that are not 

situated at a track.  
  
6.2   Children and young persons are not permitted entry to a premise with a Betting 

Premises Licence.  The Licensing Authority would need to see appropriate measures 
in place to be satisfied that children and young persons will not gain access to the 
premises.  

 
6.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, recommends taking 

into account the size of the premises; the number of counter positions available for 
person-to-person transactions; and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by vulnerable people or by children and young persons when considering 
the number, nature and circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
6.4 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this Licensing Authority will consider 

measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare appropriate. 

 

7.      Tracks 
 
7.1  There are currently no tracks operating in the district - however this Statement of 

Principles will be amended with appropriate regulation should such a facility require 
licensing within the district.  

 
7.2 Tracks are defined under the Act as “a horse racecourse, greyhound track or other 

premises on any part of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is intended 
to take place". 

 

35



 

 20 

8.     Travelling Fairs  
 

8.1 A travelling fair is defined under the Act as a “fair consisting wholly or principally of 
the provision of amusements” and is provided “wholly or principally by persons who 
travel from place to place for the purpose of providing fairs”. 

 
8.2 A travelling fair meeting the statutory definition will be permitted to make one or more 

category D gaming machine(s) available for use, so long as it is no more than an 
ancillary amusement at the fair.  

 
8.3 A travelling fair can only be sited on land that has been used for the purposes of a 

fair, for no more than 27 days per calendar year.  
 
8.4 The 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair applies to the piece 

of land on which the fairs are held regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land.   

 
9.      Provisional Statements 
 

9.1 An application for a provision statement in respect of premises can be made if;  
 

• It is expected to be constructed; 

• It is expected to be altered, or  

• A right to occupy is expected to be acquired. 
 

There is no need for the applicant to hold an Operating Licence in order to apply for 
a Provisional Statement. 

 
9.2 The process for considering an application for a Provisional Statement is the same 

as that for a Premises Licence application.  The applicant is obliged to give notice of 
the application in the same way as applying for a Premises Licence.  Responsible 
Authorities and Interested Parties may make representations and there are rights of 
appeal. 

 

9.3 The holder of the Provisional Statement may then apply for a Premises Licence once 
the premises is constructed, altered or acquired.  The Licensing Authority will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the Premises Licence 
application, and in terms of representations about Premises Licence applications that 
follow the grant of a Provisional Statement, no further representations from relevant 
Authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless it: 

 

• Addresses matters that could not have been addressed at the Provisional 
Statement stage, or 

• Reflects a change in the applicant’s circumstances. 
 

9.4 The Licensing Authority may refuse the application, or grant it on terms or conditions 
note included in the Provisional Statement) only by reference to matters which: 

 

• Could not have been raised by objectors at the Provisional Statement stage 

• Which in the Licensing Authority’s opinion reflect a change in the Operator’s 
circumstances. 

• Where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change to the plan. 

36



 

 21 

The Licensing Authority can discuss any concerns it has with the applicant 
before making a decision. 

 

10.    Reviews   
 
10.1 Once granted, a premises licence may be subject to review proceedings if there are 

concerns that a premises is not promoting the licencing objectives. The Licensing 
Authority will carry out a review of a Premises Licence where it has received a formal 
application for review in accordance with the Act.  Requests for a review of a Premises 
Licence can be made by Interested Parties or Responsible Authorities.   

 
10.2  Due consideration will be given to all relevant representations, a representation will 

be relevant unless it falls into the following category:  
 

• The grounds are frivolous or vexatious;  

• The grounds will not cause the Licensing Authority to wish to revoke or suspend 
the Licence or to remove, amend or attach conditions on the premises licence;  

• The grounds are substantially the same as the grounds cited in a previous 
application relating to the same premises; or  

• The grounds are substantially the same as representations made at the time the 
application for a premises licence was considered.  
 

10.3 This Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a premises licence or a particular 
class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks appropriate. 

 
10.4 The Licensing Authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28-

day period for making representations has passed. 
 
10.5 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority should 

take any action in relation to the licence, namely:   
 

• Add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing authority; 

• Exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (for example, 
opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion; 

• Suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months, or  

• Revoke the licence. 
 
10.6 Once the review has been completed the licensing authority must notify its decision 

as soon as possible to: 
 

• The licence holder; 

• The applicant for review (if any); 

• The Gambling Commission; 

• Any person who made representations; 

• The Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable; 

• HM Revenue and Customs. 
 

11.    Appeals 
 
11.1 A right of appeal is available for both applicants and those who have made relevant 

representations or applied for a review. This appeal must be lodged within a period 
of 21 days from the day on which the appellant was notified by the Licensing Authority 

37



 

 22 

of the decision and must be made to a Magistrates’ Court for the justice area in which 
the premises are situated. 

 

38



 

 23 

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries 
 
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (uFEC) gaming machine permits  
 
1.1 Where a premise does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide Category 

D gaming machines it may apply to the Licensing Authority for a permit.  If the 
operator wishes to make category C machines available in addition to Category D 
machines, the operator will need to apply for a gaming machine general operating 
licence (Family Entertainment Centre).  

 
1.2 uFEC’s are premises which are ‘wholly or mainly’ used for making gaming machines 

available.  As a result, it is generally not permissible for such premises to correspond 
to a motorway service station, entire shopping centre or similar.  Typically, the 
machines would be in a designated, enclosed area.   

 
1.3 An application for a uFEC permit can only be made by a person who occupies or 

plans to occupy the premises as n uFEC and, if the applicant is an individual, he or 
she must be aged 18 or over.  Applications cannot be made if a premises licence is 
in effect for the same premises.  The application must be made to the licensing 
authority in whose area the premises are wholly or partly situated.  

 
1.4 Statement of Principles 
 

The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect children and vulnerable adults from harm.  Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider safeguarding 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits; however, they may include CRB checks for staff, training 
covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the 
premises, or children causing perceived problems on / around the premises.   
 

2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits and notifications  
 
2.1 Premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises without any 

conditions restricting the sale as an ancillary to food, are automatically entitled to 
have 2 gaming machines - category C and/or D.  The premises licence holder needs 
to notify the licensing authority in writing and pay the prescribed fee.  

 
2.2 If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines a Licensed Premises Gaming 

Machine Permit must be applied for. The Licensing Authority must consider that 
application based upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission and any relevant matters. 

 
    This Licensing Authority considers that “matters” will be decided on a case by case 

basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy this Licensing Authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult-only gaming machines.   

 
2.3 As regards to the protection of vulnerable persons, the applicants may wish to 

consider the provision of information leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare. 

 

39



 

 24 

3. Prize Gaming  
 
3.1 An application can be made by anyone who occupies or plans to occupy relevant 

premises for a Prize Gaming Permit.  In the case of an individual applicant the 
individual must be aged over 18 years of age.   
 

3.2 This Licensing Authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is that the 
applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and 
that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:  

 

• That they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
regulations;  

• That the gaming offered is within the law; 

• Clear polices that outline steps to be taken to protect children from harm. 
 
3.3 There are conditions within the Act that will apply to a prize gaming permit, but the 

licensing authority cannot attach any further conditions.   
 

The conditions in the Act are: 
 

• The limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 

• All chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and 
completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must 
be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

• The prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a monetary prize) or the prescribed value (if a non-monetary 
prize); and  

• Participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

 
3.4 A permit can only be granted if the Licensing Authority has consulted with the Chief 

Officer of Police.  The applicant will have the opportunity to respond in writing. If the 
matter cannot be resolved the matter will be referred to the Licensing Committee, as 
outlined in Appendix 1.   

 
4.     Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits  
 
4.1 A Members’ clubs or Miners Welfare Institute may apply for either a Club Gaming 

permit or a Club Machine permit.  A commercial members clubs may apply for a Club 
Machine Permit only.  

 
4.2 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states:  
 

“Members’ clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted 
‘wholly or mainly’ for purposes other than gaming unless the gaming is restricted to 
that of a prescribed kind (currently bridge and whist).  A Members’ club must be 
permanent in nature but there is no need for a club to have an alcohol licence.” 

 
4.3 The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 
 

40



 

 25 

• The applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ club, commercial 
members or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the 
type of permit for which it has applied; 

• The applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons; 

• An offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

• A permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 

• An objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 
 
4.4 There is a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act (Schedule 12 paragraph 10) 

for premises which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.   
 
4.5 There are statutory conditions on Club Gaming permits that no child uses a category 

B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant 
provision of a Code of Practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 

 
5.     Temporary Use Notices  
 
5.1 Part 9 of the Act allows gambling to be carried out in specified circumstances on a 

temporary basis, subject to a temporary use notice being served on the Licensing 
Authority, the Gambling Commission, the Police and HM Revenue & Customs.  All 
these persons can raise objections having regard to the licensing objectives.  

 
5.2 A Temporary Use Notice can only be given by the holder of an operating licence and 

can only authorise gambling for which that operating licence authorises. 
 
5.3 A notice must be served not less than three months and one day before the day on 

which the event may begin.  A set of premises cannot be authorised for more than 
the statutory limit of 21 days under Temporary Use Notice in a calendar year.  

 
6.     Occasional Use Notices  
 
6.1 Occasional Use Notices allow licensed bookmakers to provide betting facilities at 

genuine sporting events for a short period of time, without needing a full betting 
premises licence.  

 
6.2 The event must be temporary or infrequent.  
 
6.3 An occasional use notice must:  

• Be made in writing; and 

• Sent in advance to the licensing authority; and  

• Copied to the local chief of police.  
 
6.4 An occasional use notice cannot be used if the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar 

year is exceeded for that track.   
 
7.     Lotteries 
 
7.1 The Licensing Authority is responsible for registering Small Society Lotteries.  The 

society must be established and be conducted for charitable purposes, for the 
purposes of enabling participation in, supporting sport, athletics or a cultural activity 
or any non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain.  

41



 

 26 

 
7.2 The other lotteries that can be conducted without a Licence from the Gambling 

Commission are: 
 

• Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries. 

• Private Lotteries (Private Society Lottery, Work Lottery, Residents’ Lottery). 

• Customer Lotteries. 
 

7.3. Societies may organise lotteries if they are licensed by the Gambling Commission, 
registered with the Licensing Authority or fall within the exempt category. Those 
seeking to run lotteries should seek their own legal advice on which type of lottery 
category they fall within.   

 
7.4 Applicants for lottery licences must apply to the Licensing Authority in the area where 

their principal office is located.  
 
7.5 This Licensing Authority will keep a Public Register of all applications and will provide 

information to the Gambling Commission on all lotteries registered by this Licensing 
Authority.  As soon as the entry on the Public Register is completed, this Licensing 
Authority will notify the applicant of registration. 

 
7.6 This Licensing Authority will ask applicants to set out the purposes for which the 

Society is established and will ask the Society to declare that they represent a bona 
fide non-commercial society and have no relevant convictions.  This Licensing 
Authority may seek further information from the Society and may require a copy of 
the Society’s constitution. 

 
7.7 Where this Licensing Authority intends to refuse registration of a Society it will give 

the Society an opportunity to make representations and will inform the Society of the 
reasons and supply evidence as to how it reached that preliminary conclusion. 

 
7.8 Small Society Lottery tickets may be sold using the following guidance: 
 

• Tickets should not be sold in a Street.  (‘Street’ includes any bridge, road, lane, 
footway, subway, square, court, alley or passage (including passages through 
enclosed premises such as shopping centres)).   

• Tickets may be sold in a street from a kiosk, in a shop or door to door. 
 

This approach is consistent with the Operating Licence conditions imposed by the 
Gambling Commission upon operators of large lotteries. 

 
8.     Review 
 
8.1 This Statement of Principles will remain in existence for a period of three years and 

will be subject to review and further consultation before 1st January 2026.  However, 
following consultation, the Licensing Authority may make revisions to it as deemed 
necessary.  

 

  

42



 

 27 

APPENDIX 1 – DELEGATED AUTHORITY 
 

Summary of Licensing Authority delegations permitted under the Gambling Act (This 
summary is for information purposes only and does not form part of the Statement of 
Principles proper.  The delegations may be amended at any time). 
  

Matter to be dealt with Council Alcohol, Entertainment 
& Late Night 
Refreshment 
Committee 

Officers 

Final approval of three year 
Licensing Statement of 

Principles 

All Cases   

Pass a resolution not to 
permit casinos 

All Cases   

Fee setting 
(when appropriate) 

X 
 X (recommend to 

Council) 

Application for Premises 
Licence (including 

applications for Re-
instatement under S195*) 

 Representation made 
and not withdrawn (S154 

(4) (a)*) 
 

No representation 
made or 

representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application to vary 
Premises Licence 

 Representation made 
and not withdrawn (S154 

(4)(b)*) 
 
 

No representation 
made or 

representations have 
been withdrawn 

 
 

Application for transfer of 
Premises Licence 

 Representation made by 
the Commission (S154 

(4) (c)*) 
 
 

Where no 
representations 

received from the 
Commission 

Application for a Provisional 
Statement 

 Representation made 
and not withdrawn 

(S154 (4) (d)*) 
 
 

No representation 
made or 

representations have 
been withdrawn 

Revocation of a Premises 
Licence (for failure to pay 
annual fee under S193*) 

  All Cases 

Review of a Premises 
Licence 

  
X 
 

 

Application for Club 
Gaming/Club Machine 

Permits 

 Objection made and not 
withdrawn (Schedule 12 

Paragraph 28 (2)*) 

No objection made or 
objections have been 

withdrawn 

Cancellation of Club 
Gaming / Club Machine 

Permits under Schedule 12 
Paragraph 21* 

 

X 

 

  

43



 

 28 

Matter to be dealt with Council Sub-Committee of 
Licensing Committee 

Officers 

Consideration of Temporary 
Use Notices (including 
Notices modified under 

Section 223) 

 All cases where an 
objection notice has been 

received unless each 
person who would be 

entitled to make 
representations agrees 

that a hearing is 
unnecessary. 

 
All cases where a 

counter notice may be 
required (S232 (3)*) 

 

All other cases 

Decision to give a Counter 
Notice to a Temporary Use 

Notice 

 All Cases except where 
time limits for temporary 

events are exceeded 
pursuant to Section 218 
(3) and Section 218 (5) 

All cases where time 
limits for temporary 

events are exceeded 
pursuant to Section 218 
(3) and Section 218 (5) 

Applications for other 
Permits, Registrations and 

Notifications 

  
X 

Cancellation of Licensed 
Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits (Schedule 13 
Paragraph 16*) 

  

X 

 

*Gambling Act 2005 
‘X’ - Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated. 
 
 
The Sub-Committee of the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing 
Committee, shall be comprised of, normally a minimum of 3 members. 
 
 
 
 

  

44



 

 29 

APPENDIX 2 - GLOSSARY OF TERMS UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 
 
Act: The Gambling Act 2005. 
 
Betting: Making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, or any other 
event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether anything is true. 
 
Business interests: Will be given its widest possible interpretation and may include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 
 
Frivolous representation: One that is without substance, lacking in seriousness, 
unrelated to the licensing objectives, the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.  
 
Gaming: Playing a game of chance for a prize. 
 
Gaming machine: A machine designed or adapted for use by individuals to gamble as 
defined in Section 235 of the Gambling Act 2005.  
 
Interested parties: Can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors 
and MPs.  This will include County, District and Parish Councillors providing they represent 
the ward likely to be affected.  Other than these persons, the Licensing Authority will require 
written evidence that a person represents someone who either lives sufficiently close to 
the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activity(ies) and / or has business 
interest(s) that might be affected by the authorised activity(ies).  A letter from one of these 
persons requesting the representation is sufficient. 
 
Licensing Authority: South Kesteven District Council. 
 
Lottery: Where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an arrangement during 
the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a process which relies wholly on 
chance  
 
Members club: Must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted “wholly 
or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is restricted to that of a 
prescribed kind (currently bridge or whist).  
 
Off course betting premises: Any premises licensed to accept bets that are not situated 
on a track.  
 
Occasional Use Notice: Allows bookmakers to provide betting facilities at genuine 
sporting events for a short period of time, without needing a full betting premises licence. 
 
Premises: “any place” as defined by Section 152 of the Gambling Act 2005 
 
Responsible Authorities: Public bodies that must be notified of applications and that are 
entitled to make representations to licensing authorities if they are relevant to the licensing 
objectives.  
 
Social responsibility code provisions - Provisions describing arrangements which 
should be made by persons providing facilities for gambling for the purpose of -  

(a) ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  
(b) protecting children and other vulnerable persons form being harmed or exploited 
by gambling; and  

45



 

 30 

(c) making assistance available to persons who are or may be affected by problems 
related to gambling.  

Compliance with these is a condition of operator licences; therefore, any breach of them 
by a licensed operator may lead the Commission to review the operator’s licence with a 
view to suspension, revocation or the imposition of a financial penalty and would also 
expose the operator to the risk of prosecution.  
 
Track: A horse racecourse, greyhound track or other premises of any part of which a race 
or other sporting event takes place or is intended to take place – Section 353 of the 
Gambling Act 2005.  This means that land which has a number of uses, one of which fulfils 
the definition of a track, could qualify for a premises licence. 
 
Travelling Fair: A fair consisting wholly or principally of the provision of amusements 
provided wholly or principally by persons who travel from place to place for the purpose of 
providing fairs.  
 
Vexatious Representation: One that is without foundation, or made for some other 
reason, such as malice.  
 
  
 
  
  

46



 

 31 

APPENDIX 3 – SUMMARY OF GAMING MACHINE CATEGORIES  
  

Category of 
machine 

Maximum stake (from 
April 2019) 

Maximum prize (from Jan 
2014) 

A Unlimited – No category A 
gaming machines are 
currently permitted 

Unlimited – No category A 
gaming machines are 
currently permitted 

B1 £5 £10,000† 

B2 £2 £500 

B3A £2 £500 

B3 £2 £500 

B4 £2 £400 

C £1 £100 

D – non-money prize 30p £8 

D – non-money prize 
(crane grab 
machines only) 

£1 £50 

47

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/appendix-b-summary-of-gaming-machine-categories-and-entitlements#ref-%E2%80%A0


 

 32 

Category of 
machine 

Maximum stake (from 
April 2019) 

Maximum prize (from Jan 
2014) 

D – money prize 10p £5 

D – combined 
money and non-
money prize 

10p £8 (of which no more than £5 
may be a money prize) 

D – combined 
money and non-
money prize (coin 
pusher or penny falls 
machines only) 

20p £20 (of which no more than 
£10 may be a money prize) 

 
† With option of max £20,000 linked progressive jackpot on premises basis only 

 

Table correct as at 30 June 2022.  

 
 
 

48



Appendix 2 –  Amendments to the Gambling Statement of Principles  

       Executive Summary Added in its entirety – for consistency with other Licensing 
Policies that have recently been updated.    
 

1. Introduction  Updated/worded for consistency with other Licensing Policies 
that have recently been updated  
From old policy: 
Included: 1.1 becomes 1.2 & 1.3 
                  1.2 becomes 1.4  
                  Section 3 – outline of the district  

2. Information Sharing and Data 
Protection  

Updated/worded for consistency with other Licensing Policies 
that have recently been updated 
From old policy:  
Included:  7.1 becomes 2.1 included first tier tribunal and other 
licensing authorities.  
                   7.2 becomes 2.4 
                   7.3 becomes 2.5 
 

3. Whistleblowing Added in its entirety  

4. Integrating other Guidance, 
Policies and Strategies   

Added in its entirety 

Added Part A  As there is a Part B, there must be a Part A to begin 

1.  The Licensing Objectives This was Section 2 in the old version and updated numbering 
Amended: wording 9.3 to become 5.2 but didn’t alter its intent 
 

2. Statement of Principles  Renamed from 3. General Terms  
From old policy:  
Included: 2.2 becomes 2.6 
                  8.2 becomes 2.2 
                  8.4 becomes 2.4 
                  Part B 1.1 becomes 2.5 
                  Part B 1.14 becomes 2.4  
 

3. Licensing Committees  Added in its entirety  

4. Declaration  Added 4.2 - that statement of principles will not override the 
right of any person to make an application, representation or 
apply for a review.  

5. Responsible Authorities  Reworded 5.1 - specifying all the consultees   

 Added 5.2 – confirming a provisional statement can be obtained 
without planning permission being granted 
From old Policy  
                   Part B 1.13 becomes 5.3 – confirming that a gambling 
licence can be issued prior to planning permission being 
granted  

6. Interested Parties and 
Representations   

Added in Representations to the title  

 Reworded 6.2 – creating 6.2 & 6.3 for ease of reading, intention 
not changed  
Added: 6.4 – detailing who will not be considered an interested 
party  

49

Appendix Two



              6.5 – confirming that details of those making 
representations will be made available per the Act to the 
applicant  
               6.6 – advising licensing authorities cannot consider 
‘irrelevant matters’  
               6.7 – defined vexatious and frivolous representations 
           

7. Risk Assessments  Renamed and renumbered – was section 9 - Risk Assessments & 
Local Area Profiles  

 Reworded 9.1 to become 7.1  
                    9.2 became 7.2  
Added: 7.3 – disabled access considerations  
Removed: 9.5 as forms part of the risk assessment  
                   9.6 & 9.7 created separate local profile section  

8. Local Area Profile  Added in its entirety  
               8.4 – no current evidence supplied re specific issues in 
areas re gambling. 
From old policy:  
               8.1 - Table at 3.2 outlining numbers of premises /types 
of permits  

9. Inspection and Enforcement  Renumbered – was section 8 and switched wording  

 From old policy:  
                  8.3 becomes 9.6 and 9.7                        
                  8.7 becomes 9.2 
                  8.12 becomes 9.4 
Added: 9.3 - explaining requirement to notify Gambling 
Commission if specific issues found  
              9.5 – will work collaboratively with Lincs Police and 
Gambling Commission  
Removed: 8.9 as no longer in force  
                   

Part B – Premises Licences   

1. General principles  From old policy:   
                 1.6 becomes 1.6 & 1.7 - Reworded :1.6 to condense 
explanation of sub-division of a single plot.  
                 1.10 added into 1.3 
                 1.11 reworded and became 1.3  
                 1.13 became Part A 2.5 and 2.6  
                 1.15 reworded to condense explanation of each        
New 1.10 - Licensing Objective reworded  
          1.11 – numbers and categories of gaming machines added 
          1.12 – 1.14 minor rewording but intent not changed 

2. Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) No change   

3. Licensed Family 
Entertainment Centres (FECs) 

Reworded 3.1 and 3.3 but intent not changed   
Added 3.2 – protecting vulnerable persons 

4. Casinos Reworded 4.1 to include 4.2 
Added: 4.3 – there is no right of appeal against the resolution  

5. Bingo premises  Reworded 5.1-5.5 to condense and made more concise  

6. Betting Premises  Added the wording Off Course to the title  
 

 Added 6.1 – definition of off course betting  

50



 6.4 – inserted protection for vulnerable persons  
 

7. Tracks  Added 7.2 – definition of track  

8. Travelling Fairs  Added 8.1 – definition of travelling fair  
Reworded - 8.3 which became 8.3 and 8.4 

9. Provisional Statements  Renumbered  
From old policy:  
              Removed : 9.1 & 9.4 

10. Review  Added a new 10.1 & 10.2 
From old policy:  
              10.4 – reworded but intent not changed 
              10.6 – became 10.5 
              10.8 – became 10.6 

11. Appeals  Slight rewording  

Part C – Permits/Temporary & 
Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries  

 

1. Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre (uFEC) 

Added 1.2 – definition of uFEC  
1.3 – application process  

From old policy 
Removed:  1.2 & 1.3  
Reworded – 1.1 condensed 

1.4 to include a type of check to be undertaken on staff  
 

2. Alcohol licensed premises 
gaming machine permits  

Reworded 2.1 and moved some wording to 2.2 
Some rewording of 2.2 and 2.3 
 

3. Prize gaming  Added 3.1 and added words to 3.3 
Added 3.4 

4. Club Gaming & Club Machine 
permits  

4.1 updated the definition of Members Club who can apply  
Reworded 4.2 and 4.3  

5. Temporary Use Notices  Reworded and condensed but no change to intent  

6. Occasional Use Notices  Reworded 6.1 to define OUN’s  
Added 6.2 and 6.3 

7. Lotteries  Small rewording changes  

8. Review No change  

Appendix 1 Added title – Delegated Authority  
Ensured that the delegations match the new constitution 

Appendix 2 – Glossary of Terms  Added in its entirety  
Added a definition of Social Responsibility code provision 
following consultation feedback (in Green text)  

Appendix 3 – Summary of Gaming 
Machine Categories  

Added in its entirety  

 

51



This page is intentionally left blank



STATEMENT OF GAMBLING PRINCIPLES 
CONSULTATION – AUGUST 2022 

 

  

Report written by Deborah Wyles 

Communications and Consultation 

September 2022 

53

Appendix Three



1 
 

Table of Contents 

 

 Page 

Purpose, scope and objectives 2 

Methodology 3 

Details 6 

Results 8 

Conclusion 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



2 
 

Purpose 

 

1. The purpose of this report is to update members of South Kesteven District Council’s 

Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and Full Council with the results of the 

Gambling Statement of Principles Consultation.  

2. The consultation was undertaken to ensure that 

 

• there was an opportunity for stakeholders to comment on the draft Statement of 

Principles 

• SKDC complies with Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005.  This requires all licensing 

authorities to review and publish every three years; a statement of principles that 

they propose to apply in exercising their functions under the act. The requirement to 

consult is set out within the process outlined in Statutory Instrument 636 (2006). 

 

Scope 

3. The scope of this consultation included: 

• Communicating the Council’s priorities particularly in relation to public safety – 

protecting public health; the prevention of crime and disorder – promoting 

responsible gambling; and the prevention of public nuisance 

• Reflecting the Council’s obligations in other areas - particularly in relation to the 
Gambling Objectives. These are to:  

❖ Prevent gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

❖ Ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

❖ To protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling  

• Defining and communicating to all interested parties what is meant by gambling 
activity (what is included) i.e., gaming (playing a game of chance for a prize), betting 
(making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition or any other event) 
or taking part in a lottery (paying to take part in a process where prizes allocated via 
a process which relies purely on chance) 

• Ensuring that the Statement of Principles has been reviewed in line with legislative 

requirements 

• Ensuring that the views of those who wish to respond to the consultation do so, and 
are responded to, when appropriate, by the Licensing Team   

 

Objectives 

4. The objectives of the consultation were identified as follows. To: 

• Communicate that the review that has been undertaken, as required by the 

legislation- specifically the Gambling Act 2005 

• Raise awareness of the legislation that governs the provision of gambling 

• Illustrate that stakeholders were involved prior to the decision to approve the 

Statement of Principles 

55



3 
 

• Measure the degree of support or otherwise for the Statement of Principles in their 

current format 

• Inform the decision that will be taken by the Council in respect of the Statement of 

Principles 

• Ensure respondents were able to identify any potential issues 

 

Timescales 

5. Some work to identify potential amendments to the Statement of Principles has already been 

undertaken. Members of the Licensing Committee were asked for their comments and 

observations on these amendments at their meeting on 19 August 20221.   

6. This was then broadened out to include other stakeholders. Starting on 22 August 2022, the 

consultation on the draft Statement of Principles was open for four weeks - closing on 18 

September 2022. The results were analysed during the last two weeks of September and will 

be reported to the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee meeting on 11 October 2022. 

The results will also be considered by Cabinet on 8 November 2022 prior to approval by Full 

Council on 24 November 2022.  

Stakeholders 

 

7. The stakeholders were identified as follows: 

• Licence holders 

• The general public 

• Local businesses and trade associations 

• Town and Parish Councils  

• Charities 

• The Chief Constable of Lincolnshire Police 

• Lincolnshire County Council 

• Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 

• Other sections in SKDC including Environmental Health and Planning 

• Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership 

• Gambling Commission  

Methodology 

 

8. The methods employed were dependent upon the type of stakeholder. The table overleaf 

identifies the method(s) which were thought to be the most appropriate for each of the 

stakeholder types: 

 

 

 
1 Meeting of licensing committee 19 Aug 2022 p13 – p47 
(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Licensing Committee, 19/08/2022 10:00 

56

http://moderngovsvr/documents/g4311/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-Aug-2022%2010.00%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10


4 
 

Stakeholders Method(s) Details 

Licence 
holders 

All licence holders 
contacted by email 
and asked to 
complete a survey 
on-line. 

 

Potential respondents were referred to survey monkey to 
participate in the consultation. If they didn’t want to 
submit a response on-line, they were also able to leave 
their details and a member of staff from the licensing 
section would contact them to complete a survey with 
them over the phone. No licence holders chose this option. 

Members of 
the public - 
general 

Members of the 
public were made 
aware of the 
consultation 
through the 
following channels:  

 

Press release to the 
local press 

 

 

SKDC Social Media 
Channels  

 

 

 

SKDC website 

 

 

 

Newspaper Advert – 
placed in Grantham 
Journal and 
Stamford Mercury 
on 26 August 2022 

Potential respondents were referred to survey monkey to 
participate in the consultation. If they didn’t want to 
submit a response on-line, they were also able to leave 
their details and a member of staff from the licensing 
section would contact them to complete a survey with 
them over the phone. No-one chose this option. 

 

Press Officer / Consultation officer prepared a press 
release promoting the consultation. Release included the 
link to the survey and a QR code. 

 

Social Media Officer promoted the consultation on social 
media channels by posting on Facebook and tweeting on 
Twitter. Posts included a link to the survey. Tweets and 
posts were prepared and approved by the Licensing Team 
Leader in advance of the consultation going live. 

 

Webpage contained the following information: 

• a draft version of the policy 

• link to the survey and QR code 

 

Advert contained the following information: 

• Available for inspection from 22 August 2022 

• In offices in Grantham and Bourne 

• Consultation between 22 August and 18 
September 2022  

• Link to the survey 

 

57



5 
 

 

 

Local 
Businesses 
and trade 
associations  

Consultation 
promoted to 
specific local 
businesses /trade 
associations at 
same time as 
promoting to public 
– email sent 

Potential respondents were referred to survey monkey 
and asked to participate in the consultation:  
 

• British Beer & Pub Assocn  

• British institute of Innkeeping  

• Bingo association  

• Association of British bookmakers  

• Keeday Leisure  

• Bet Fred  

• Mark Jarvis  

• Buzz Bingo  

• Ladbrokes  

• Coral  

• William Hill  

Town and 
Parish 
Councils 

Parish Councils 
contacted by email 
and asked to 
complete a survey 
on-line. 

A list of all contacts was obtained from 
Democracy/Member Services.  

                          

PUBLIC NOTICE 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 

Notice is hereby given that South Kesteven District Council is 

carrying out a consultation for the triennial review of the 

Gambling Statement of Principles, which the Council is 

required to produce in accordance with section 349 of the 

Gambling Act 2005.  

The revised draft Statement of Principles is available for 

inspection from 22 August 2022 on the Council’s website 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk.  

Copies will also be available at the Council’s area offices in 

Grantham and Bourne. Interested parties may also obtain a 

copy by contacting the Licensing Team at the Council Offices, 

St Peters Hill, Grantham NG31 6PZ or by phone 01476 

406080. 

The consultation takes place between 22 August 2022 and 18 

September 2022. Any comments should be submitted via the 

survey https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/skdcsgp2022 , 

sent to the Licensing Team at the above address or via email 

policyconsultation@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 

Ayeisha Kirkman 

Public Protection Manager 

58

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/skdcsgp2022
mailto:policyconsultation@southkesteven.gov.uk


6 
 

Charities  Charities contacted 
by email and asked 
to complete a 
survey on-line 

Licensing Team contacted relevant charities who have 
asked for permission to carry out street-based collections 
or house to house collections in the last 12 months. These 
were: 

• GamCare  

• Samaritans  

The Police – 
Chief Officer 
of Lincs Police 
and the 
Lincolnshire 
Police and 
Crime 
Commissioner 

Chief officer for 
Lincolnshire Police 
contacted by email 
asking to complete 
a survey on-line 

Chief officer for Lincolnshire Police and Police and Crime 
Commissioner contacted by the Licensing Team  

 

 

Lincolnshire 
County 
Council 

Email sent and 
asked to complete a 
survey on-line 

Licensing Team contacted LCC  

 

Lincolnshire 
Fire and 
Rescue 

Email sent and 
asked to complete a 
survey on-line  

Licensing Team contacted the chief officer for Lincolnshire 
Fire and Rescue on 

 

Other sections 
in SKDC 

Environmental 
Health & Planning 
email sent and 
asked to complete a 
survey on-line   

 

Licensing Team contacted Environmental Health and 
Planning sections on  

 

Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding 
Children’s 
Partnership 

Email sent and 
asked to complete a 
survey on-line  

Licensing Team contacted  

The Gambling 
Commission 

Enquiry form on 
website completed 
with link to the 
survey on-line 

Licensing Team contacted  

 

Details 

9. The survey for the Gambling Statement of Principles included the following sections: 

• An introduction to the consultation, why the policy has been reviewed (to comply with 

legislative requirements) and how feedback will be used and responded to  

• That the 2005 Act is currently being reviewed by central government to ensure its fit for 

purpose for the digital age. A white paper is expected to be issued at some point – 

although no date has yet been set 

• A question asking for any comments about the policy in general 

• An option for them to ask questions or make further observations about the Statement of 

Principles  

59



7 
 

• A question to collect the respondent’s contact details should these be needed to respond 

to a query 

• Demographic questions. These to include a question to identify the type of user (someone 

who holds a gambling licence, undertakes gambling, a member of the public, other local 

business, or other organisation etc) 

• Specifying the duration of the consultation period  

• A statement on how any personal data they supply will be treated 

• A thank you and closing date 

The webpage included: 

• An introduction to the consultation, why respondents help is needed and how their 

feedback will be used.  

• A copy of the draft policy 

The press release included: 

• An introduction to the consultation 

• A link to the survey and the QR code 

• Background to the proposals – why SKDC has to review the Statement of Principles 

• What to do if they don’t have on-line access 

• Next steps 

Promoting via Social Media channels included: 

• An introduction to the consultation 

• A link to the survey 

The email/letter included: 

• An introduction to the consultation 

• A link to the survey and the QR code 

• What to do if they want to complete the survey over the phone 

• Next steps 

The actions required were: 

• The preparation and approval of survey content  

• The setting up of the survey on the survey software 

• Content for webpage determined 

• The preparation and approval of the content for social media posts 

• The preparation and approval of content for emails to other stakeholders  

 

Data collection 

10. The data from the survey was then collected electronically, downloaded into excel and 

analysed as soon as the consultation closed. Results were provided in both graph and tabular 

format. 

11. As a result of the press release issued to promote the consultation in the local media, articles 

appeared in the Lincolnite, Grantham Matters and Grantham Journal2. The consultation was 

 
2 https://thelincolnite.co.uk/2022/08/south-kesteven-district-council-seek-residents-views-on-gambling-rules/ 
https://www.granthamjournal.co.uk/news/have-your-say-on-gambling-rules-9270230/  

https://www.granthammatters.co.uk/have-your-say-on-gambling-rules/  

60

https://thelincolnite.co.uk/2022/08/south-kesteven-district-council-seek-residents-views-on-gambling-rules/
https://www.granthamjournal.co.uk/news/have-your-say-on-gambling-rules-9270230/
https://www.granthammatters.co.uk/have-your-say-on-gambling-rules/


8 
 

also promoted on the Council’s social media channels and website during the consultation 

period. The Facebook post on 22 August reached 1039 people and two clicked on the link. The 

second Facebook post on 1 September reached 1065 people and six clicked on the link. There 

were 222 impressions on Twitter, and no-one clicked on the link when the consultation was 

launched. On 1 September there were 221 impressions and one person clicked on the link.  

12. The consultation closed on 18 September 2022. 13 responses were received – most of which 

were from residents (7) and/or town and parish councils (5). No replies were received from 

licence holders or prospective applicants, local businesses or any of the trade associations that 

had been contacted as part of the consultation.  One response was received from someone 

representing another group or organisation, but they didn’t specify which.  

The results  

13. Those responding to the survey were given an overview of the roles and responsibilities of the 

Council with regard to the licensing of premises and the issuing of permits and authorisations.  

Some of the regulatory functions in relation to gambling activities were outlined in the 

introduction to the survey including the pivotal role the statement of licensing principles plays 

in the licensing process. Setting out how gambling will be regulated in South Kesteven, the 

policy describes how premises will be licensed, and how fees will be set and collected.  

14. The law requires all authorities to review their Statement of Licensing Principles every three 

years. Respondents were informed that SKDC’s Statement of Licensing Principles 2023- 2026 

had been updated to include the latest guidance available on various policies and procedures. 

These include information sharing and data protection and inspection and enforcement 

processes. Respondents were provided with a link to the policy in draft form, should they wish 

to view it, and then asked the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with the new policy. 

15. Just over three quarters of respondents (10 or 76.9%) agreed with the draft Statement of 

Gambling Principles as illustrated in the chart overleaf: 

 

 

 
 

 

61



9 
 

 

 

16. Respondents were then asked if they had any questions or would like to comment on anything 

included in the Statement of Licensing Principles. Four comments were received. One 

respondent didn’t think the policy referred to the Social Responsibility Code in enough detail. 

They also thought the policy didn’t reflect the shift that has occurred in respect of online 

gambling (which is administered by the Gambling Commission). They also queried why the 

statement of licensing principles has been reviewed now, given it is in the process of being 

considered by central government. Their comments are listed below: 

“The proposed statement makes reference to SR Code (social responsibility) however does 

to provide a link or detail it in the appendices.” 

“Although the license statement is to create a controlled and safe environment, my 

understanding is Premises gambling is now the smallest access point to gambling with the 

majority now happening online and through apps, where participants can gamble at any 

location with significantly reduced control and safety; therefore, making the license 

approach virtually redundant.” 

“Lastly it seems pointless progressing this gambling statement now if the government could 

change it, requiring changes to this statement.” 

Another respondent thought gambling should not be permitted anywhere. 

 “Gambling establishments should not be allowed.” 

The third person to comment was critical of the length of the policy document and the 

consultation process, calling it a tick box exercise. 

The fourth individual to comment requested that the policy include clarification on when 

registration isn’t required. This is documented below:  

Strongly 
agree, 1, 8%

Agree, 9, 69%

Neither agree nor 
disagree, 1, 8%

Disagree, 0, 0% Strongly disagree, 0, 
0%

Don't know/not 
sure , 2, 15%

q1. To what extent do you agree or disagree with SKDC's 
draft statement of licensing principles?

62



10 
 

“More detail should be given for small lotteries/sweepstakes to make it clear when NO 

registration or license is required.” 

17. Each of these comments will be responded to by the Licensing Team Leader.  

18. The final question on the survey asked respondents to state whether they were a licence 

holder or prospective applicant, a resident of South Kesteven, a local business or trade 

organisation, a town or parish council or representing a group or other organisation. Most 

responses were from either town or parish councils and/or residents, as illustrated in the chart 

below. Only one response was received from someone representing a group or other 

organisation but unfortunately, they didn’t specify which organisation they represented. 

Respondents could choose more than one option. 

 

 

Conclusion 

19. The law requires licensing authorities to review their Statement of Licensing Principles every 

three years. SKDC’s Statement of Licensing Principles 2023- 2026 has been updated to include 

the latest guidance available on various policies and procedures. These include information 

sharing and data protection, the whistleblowing policy, inspection and enforcement 

processes, and how the policy integrates with other strategies, policies and guidance. 

20. Stakeholders were supplied with a link to the Gambling Statement of Principles document and 

asked to measure the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with it. They were also given 

the opportunity to comment on it and to raise any concerns they might have. Their feedback 

has been considered and responded to by the Licensing Team Leader, with changes 

incorporated into the policy where appropriate, prior to the document being considered by 

Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 11 October 2022. It will then be considered 

by Cabinet on 8 November 2022 prior to approval by Full Council on 24 November 2022. 

 

0

7

0

5

1

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

a licence holder or prospective applicant

a resident of South Kesteven

a local business and/or a trade association

a town or parish council

representing a group or other organisation

q4. Please tell us if you are .....?

63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 4 - Evaluation of consultation responses  

Area of 
Statement 

Summary of Comments Response 

Part A – 
Gambling 
Licences 

 
 

The proposed statement makes reference to SR Code (social 
responsibility) however does to provide a link or detail it the appendices.  
 
 
 
Although the license statement is to create a controlled and safe 
environment, my understanding is Premises gambling is now the 
smallest access point to gambling with the majority now happening 
online and through apps, where participants can gamble at any location 
with significantly reduced control and safety; therefore, making the 
license approach virtually redundant.  
 
Therefore, a total rethink should made on gambling act, which statement 
calls out the government is reviewing. Lastly it seems pointless 
progressing this gambling statement now if the government could 
change it, requiring changes to this statement 

Given the longevity of the Statement, if web link change 
inaccurate information could be provided. A wider 
definition of SR Codes has been added to the Glossary of 
Terms in Appendix 2. 
 
Online and App gambling is controlled by the Gambling 
Commission.  This Statement of Principles has been 
prepared in line with legislation regarding the issuing of a 
range of licences permitting other gambling facilities in the 
area.  
 
 
Section 349 of the Act requires the Council to prepare a 
Statement of Principles to cover each successive period of 
three years. The current statement expires January 2023.    

 Gambling establishments should not be allowed. Legislation permits gambling and outlines requirements for 
Licensing Authority’s.  This Gambling Statement of 
Principles sets out how as a Licensing Authority it will 
comply with the legislation.  

 For goodness sake, haven't you got better things to do with your 
resources. Who on earth is going to spend time actually reading 31 
pages before commenting? Only those with a personal interest in which 
case they are already bias. This survey is just a tick box exercise, and 
you should be ashamed at trying to portray it as anything else. It isn't a 
real consultation so don't pretend it is. 

South Kesteven District Council has followed the Gambling 
Act 2005 legislation regarding the preparation of the 
Statement of Licensing Principles.  The Gambling Act 
2005 Regulation outlines the consultation requirements. 

 More detail should be given for small lotteries/sweepstakes to make it 
clear when NO registration or license is required. Clubs, societies, 
village halls, churches etc should be confident they can run tombolas, 
Grand National sweepstakes and other minor things without reference 
to SKDC for a permit 
 

On the SKDC website, within the Gambling page, the 
attached link can be added: Types of lottery you can run 
without a licence - Gambling Commission. This provides 
further guidance in relation to lotteries (which includes 
raffles and tombolas) that do not require licences.   

 

65

A
ppendix F

our

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/public-and-players/guide/page/types-of-lottery-you-can-run-without-a-licence
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/public-and-players/guide/page/types-of-lottery-you-can-run-without-a-licence


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Gambling Statement of Principles 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Public Protection  

Lead officer: 
 Heather Green  

Date of Meeting  
 
05/07/22 Assessors: 

Heather Green  

Neutral Assessor: 
Kati Conway  

  

67

Appendix Five



2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

Licensing Authorities issue licences for gambling premises and issue a 
range of permits to authorise other gambling facilities in their area.  
 
The Gambling Act 2005 requires Authorities on or before each successive 
period of three years, to prepare a Statement of Principles that they propose 
to apply in the exercise of their functions under the Act and to publish that 
Statement.  The last Statement was published in January 2020 and is now 
under review. 
 
The Statement sets out the Licensing Authorities approach to regulation and 
aims to control operators of licensed premises within the local area. 
 
The licensing objectives are set out in the Act and are:  
• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  
• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling.  
 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/
strategy have a positive 
or negative impact on 
any of the equality 
groups?  
 
Please state which for 
each group 

Please describe why the impact is 
positive or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc is not 
relevant to a specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Positive – under 18s The statement sets out how the 
Licensing Authority will consider 
applications in accordance with 
licensing objectives. It also outlines 
the Gambling Commission Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice 
(LCCP issued October 2020) requiring 
operators to consider the local risks to 
their application.  

68



3 

 

One is to protect children from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.  
Premise Licence applicants must 
consider a range of relevant factors in 
their risk assessment as part of their 
application, setting out measures the 
licensee has in place to address 
specific issues e.g. locations near 
schools, playgroups, community 
groups and where young people may 
congregate.  

Disability 
 

 

Positive – in respect of 
mental health and 
learning disability  

This policy outlines measures that 
venues and staff at these venues are 
aware of vulnerable groups, are alert 
to excessive gambling and provide 
appropriate information for 
organisations or charities that provide 
help such as GamCare.   
Where venues are operating outside 
of conditions or without appropriate 
permits, a range of enforcement 
provisions are available in the Act. 
 

Race 
 

Neutral  This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral  This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis.  

69



4 

 

Locations wishing to become a 
gambling location would need to 
undertake risk assessments of the 
local area and seek relevant planning 
permission.   

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral  This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral  This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

Carers Neutral This policy has general protection 
levels and terms of operating for 
anyone wishing to provide gambling 
facilities or gamble.  The policy, whilst 
not being determined by this individual 
protected characteristic has been put 
place to ensure standards are met 
and licences are issued on an 
equitable basis. 

70



5 

 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Positive - Vulnerable 
persons, for regulatory 
purposes Gambling 
Commission guidance 
states “assume that this 
group includes people 
who gamble more than 
they want to; people who 
gamble beyond their 
means; and people who 
may not be able to make 
informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling 
due to mental health 
needs, learning disability, 
or substance misuse 
relating to alcohol or 
drugs.”   

This policy outlines measures that 
venues and staff at these venues are 
aware of vulnerable groups including 
those with gambling dependencies 
would be protected and are alert to 
excessive gambling and provide 
appropriate information for 
organisations that provide help such 
as GamCare.   
Operators when considering the local 
risks, must evidence how they would 
address issues regarding vulnerable 
people unable to make informed, 
balanced decisions.  
Where venues are operating outside 
of conditions or without appropriate 
permits, a range of enforcement 
provisions are available in the Act. 
 

General 
comments 

 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

The current Statement (2020-2023) was subject to consultation. A range of 
licences/permits have been issued under the current statement and no 
significant risks have been identified.  However, in line with current guidance, 
the Statement of Principles outlines considerations relating to children and 
vulnerable people.   

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

The revised Statement will be subject to consultation statutory consultees, 
relevant bodies and the public.  

 
 

71



6 

 

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

72



7 

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Heather Green  
(Name and title)   Licensing Team Leader  
  

Date completed:  30/6/2022  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):   
(Name and title)   Kati Conway – Senior Neighbourhoods Officer 

 
Date signed off:     05/07/22  

 

73



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

8 November 2022  
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 

 

 

Housing Compensation Policy 
 

Report Author 

Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services 

  Jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

In common with all social landlords, the Council is obliged in some circumstances to 
make payments to tenants or leaseholders to compensate them for loss or 
inconvenience. The Housing Compensation Policy is intended to provide clarity of the 
circumstances, both discretionary and statutory, where it is appropriate such payments 
will be made. 
 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of the report. 

2. Approves the Housing Compensation Policy.  

3. Delegates authority to the Director of Housing and Property, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property, to make 
minor amendments to the Housing Compensation Policy as required by 
changes to regulation or legislation. 

 

 

 

 

75

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All 

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The Policy sets out a framework that should ensure there is a consistent and 

uniformed approach to responding to a service failure through a compensation 

policy.  Given that this is an acknowledgement of poor performance or service 

failure it is important to ensure that improvements are identified and implemented 

in order to reduce the reputational and financial risks.  There will need to be clear 

lines of approval for any such payments supported by record keeping identifying 

the approval process.  It is necessary in some instances to notify the Council’s 

insurers of specific service failures, so it is important that Housing Services notify 

the Council’s Governance and Risk officer in order to ensure the most appropriate 

process is followed.  

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 There is a statutory requirement for a Local Authority Landlord to have a 

compensation policy for statutory and discretionary compensation.   

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the policy was undertaken and signed off 

by one of the Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Champions, this can be 

found at Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment – Housing Compensation 

76



Policy.  Any negative impacts can be mitigated, and these are demonstrated in the 

EIA. 

 

1.4 There are no safeguarding issues identified. 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local 

authority, the Council has circa 5,900 properties.  The Council has long-

established custom and practice in terms of both compensation and recharges, 

but no clear policies have been adopted.  This report seeks Cabinet approval for 

separate policies covering both compensation and recharges. 

2.2 Cabinet is aware of and has welcomed the clear shift to greater tenant 

engagement and increased clarity and powers given to the Regulator of Social 

Housing and the Housing Ombudsman.  The adoption of clear policies evidences 

the Council’s commitment to meet all its statutory and regulatory obligations.   

 Housing Compensation Policy   

2.3 The Council is committed to ensuring that it meets all housing-related statutory 

compensation payment obligations.  The Council also recognises that there may 

be occasions where its service fails and a discretionary compensation payment 

may be appropriate, such as where inconvenience is caused, or as a gesture of 

goodwill and apology. 

2.4 The Housing Compensation Policy sets out the grounds and basis upon which 

compensation may be awarded in relation to our statutory obligations and 

discretionary payments. It includes the following:  

• Statutory compensation, which includes Right to Compensation for 
Improvements; Right to Repair; Home Loss payments; and Statutory 
Disturbance payments. 

• Discretionary compensation, which includes quantifiable loss payments 
(where tenants can demonstrate actual loss) and discretionary payments 
(for time and trouble/distress and inconvenience).  For example, temporary 
loss of amenities or loss of use of part of the property. 

 

2.5 The Policy confirms there are some situations where compensation will not be 

considered, for example: 

• claims for personal injury 

• claims for damage caused by circumstances beyond the Council’s control 
(e.g., through storm or flooding) 

• issues caused by a third party not working for the Council; and  

• problems resulting from tenant failure to act reasonably (e.g., refusing to 
allow access for repairs). 

77



2.6 As noted above, the Housing Ombudsman has an increased role in determining if 

a landlord has failed to act reasonably and provides determinations on complaints 

it receives.   The Housing Ombudsman can only order compensation when they 

have found that there has been maladministration and will consider the following:  

actual, proven financial loss sustained as a direct result of the maladministration or 

service failure, and/or avoidable inconvenience, distress, detriment or other unfair 

impact of the maladministration or service failure.  The Council will take seriously 

and comply with the Ombudsman’s determinations, including the payment of 

compensation, a review of the findings, and appropriate action in respect of 

lessons to be learnt.     

2.7 Compensation does not have to be in the form of a payment. It can include 

practical actions (such as offering to undertake repairs or redecoration which 

would otherwise be a tenant’s responsibility) and gestures of goodwill (e.g., 

vouchers, chocolates, flowers). 

2.8 Any compensation in relation to the Council’s landlord function can only be 

financed within the resources of the Housing Revenue Account.  Generally, 

compensation payments to tenants can and should be offset against any housing 

debts owing to the Council, including rent arrears, or re-charges for damage. 

Following the offset, any balance remaining will be paid direct to the tenant. This 

would not be appropriate where the compensation was in respect of a quantifiable 

loss (i.e., where actual financial loss had occurred).  

2.9 Cabinet may wish to note the table below detailing the total of compensation paid 

in relation to the Housing function in the last two financial years. This included 

compensation payments for service failure, loss, and disrepair. 

Financial Year 2020/21 2021/22 

Compensation £37,692 £89,903 

   

Cumulative 2020/21/22 £127,595 

 

2.10 Where compensation is because of service failure and loss, any offer of 

compensation will be accompanied by an apology; an explanation as to how the 

failures in service occurred; a demonstration of learning; and a commitment to 

making service improvements. 

2.11 The compensation payments shall be signed off and authorised by either the Head 

of Housing, the Head of Technical Services, the Assistant Director of Housing or 

the Director of Housing and Property. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 The adoption of the policy would enable the council to fulfil its statutory 

responsibility providing a policy framework for discretionary compensation as 

expected by the Housing Ombudsman. 

 

78



 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 There are two options that can be considered: 

4.2 Option 1 - Do nothing. This would leave us without a compensation policy in place.  

This is not recommended due to the risk of non-compliance with our statutory 

obligations, it also increases the likelihood of a service failure becoming a formal 

complaint. 

4.3 Option 2 - Approve and implement the Housing Compensation Policy. The policy 

provides clear guidance on the Council’s arrangements for the payment of 

compensation. 

4.4 Option 2 is the preferred option due to the benefits it offers. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The Housing Compensation Policy provides clear guidance and consistency: 

• on the payment of statutory compensation;  

• on situations where the payment of discretionary compensation is 

appropriate;  

• reduces the likelihood of a challenge through the courts and the Upper 

Tribunal (Lands Chamber); and  

• recognises the Councils commitment to putting things right where there is a 

service failure. 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 The Policy has been subject to consultation through the Council’s website with 

comments invited to the housing consultation email address.  No comments were 

received. 

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee papers (1st July 2021) 

for the Housing Compensation Policy. 

 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Housing Compensation Policy 

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment – Housing Compensation Policy 

 

79



 

80



 

 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

HOUSING 

COMPENSATION POLICY  

JULY 2022 

 

Service Area Housing 

Policy Owner Head of Housing 

Introduced 2022 Last Reviewed n/a 

Version One Review Date 2025 

81

Appendix One



 

Compensation Policy | Page 2 of 16 
 

 

Contents 

 

1  Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 3 

2  Scope and Purpose of the Policy ......................................................................................... 3 

3  Strategic Context .................................................................................................................... 3 

4 Legislation and Guidance ....................................................................................................... 3 

5 Equality and Diversity .............................................................................................................. 4 

6 The Policy ................................................................................................................................. 4 

6.1 Mandatory Payments ....................................................................................................... 5 

6.1.1 Right to Repair .............................................................................................................. 5 

6.1.2 Compensation for Improvements ............................................................................... 5 

6.1.3 Home Loss / Disturbance Payments ......................................................................... 6 

6.2 Quantifiable Loss Payments ........................................................................................... 7 

6.3 Discretionary Payments ................................................................................................... 8 

6.4       Right to Repair ................................................................................................................. 9 

6.5       Compensation for Improvements .................................................................................. 9 

6.6       Home Loss / Disturbance Payments .......................................................................... 10 

6.7 Pre-action Protocol for Disrepair .................................................................................. 11 

7 Ineligibility for Compensation ............................................................................................... 11 

8 Responsibilities ...................................................................................................................... 12 

9 Complaints .............................................................................................................................. 12 

10 Related Policies and Documents ........................................................................................ 12 

11 Review ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

APPENDIX A:  Right to Repair ..................................................................................................... 14 

APPENDIX B:  Compensation for Improvements ...................................................................... 16 

 

 
 
  

82



 

Compensation Policy | Page 3 of 16 
 

1  Introduction 

Customer service is one of South Kesteven District Council’s core values; it underpins the 

housing service provided by the Council.  We strive to deliver excellence in our services and, 

as stated in our Customer First Strategy: we want to put our customers first, at the heart of 

what we do and the services we deliver.   

To deliver excellence in our housing service it is essential to recognise when we might get it 

wrong and apologise to our customers appropriately, which may include financial 

compensation. Financial compensation aims to provide redress to restore a person to the 

position that they would have been in had the service failure not occurred.  

2  Scope and Purpose of the Policy 

2.1 Within the scope of this Policy are all current and former tenants, and leaseholders 

living in South Kesteven District Council’s residential properties, including sheltered 

schemes, and blocks of flats and maisonettes.   

2.2 This Policy clearly sets out how South Kesteven District Council will meet its legal 

obligations to offer compensation payments in a fair and proportionate manner. Each 

case shall be considered on its individual merits with the appropriate levels of 

discretion and common sense applied whilst promoting consistency. 

2.3 It also sets out how the Council will respond to incidences in its housing service which 

may prompt a payment of compensation to customers, such as failures in our Repairs 

& Maintenance service which may result in certain conditions of disrepair within our 

housing stock.   

2.4 Any complaint received by the Council will be dealt with in line with our corporate 

Customer Feedback Process (Compliments, Comments & Complaints)  and we will 

always try to resolve a problem before the need for compensation arises. 

2.5 This Policy does not relate to when tenants have suffered a loss as a result of the  

Council being negligent. Any customer wishing to make an insurance claim should 

explain in writing how the Council has been negligent and the losses they have 

suffered as a consequence.  All insurance claims are sent to the Council’s insurer. 

2.6  This Policy will assist the Council in monitoring and continually improving its 

performance in delivering our housing service to customers. 

3  Strategic Context 

3.1 This Policy will assist the Council to meet the long standing aspirations within its 

Corporate Plan, particularly:  

 

“Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents.” 

4 Legislation and Guidance 

4.1 This Policy will ensure compliance with current legislation and promote good practice.  

Without being an exhaustive list, it has regard to the:  

83



 

Compensation Policy | Page 4 of 16 
 

• Land Compensation Act 1973 (as amended) 

• Planning and Compensation Act 1991 

• Home Loss Payments (Prescribed Amounts) (England) Regulations 2019 (or 

regulations replacing these) 

• Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 

(as amended) 

• Housing Act 1985,1988 and 1996 

• Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 

• Housing Act 2004 

•  Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 

• Equality Act 2010 

4.2 It should be noted that any offer of compensation is made without prejudice, as a 

good will gesture, and does not signify the acceptance of legal responsibility or 

liability on the part of South Kesteven District Council.  All payments made under this 

Policy will be issued as full and final settlement for the complaint. 

4.3 South Kesteven District Council has legal responsibilities in managing personal data 

under the General Data Protection Regulation.  Information about data protection is 

available on our website and available in other formats on request.  

5 Equality and Diversity 

5.1 South Kesteven District Council recognises that it houses people with a diverse range 

of needs which may affect their position as a customer of our housing service.  We 

will therefore: 

a) be sensitive to the individual needs and circumstances of the people using our 

housing service; 

b) meet our responsibility under the Equality Act to our residents with protected 

characteristics, who may be more affected by a failure in our Repairs & 

Maintenance service such as the loss of a usable space or amenity to the 

property; 

c) implement this Policy consistently and consider each request for compensation, 

or legal obligation to offer compensation, on a case-by-case basis to ensure that 

all of our customers are treated fairly and any compensation payments made are 

appropriate; and 

d) monitor our services and the outcomes for people using them in order to ensure 

that they are fair and responsive to needs. 

5.2 To support the needs of customers whose first language is not English, the Council 

will provide translation and interpretation services when needed.  We will ensure that 

information is accessible and available in other formats such as large print, tape and 

Braille upon request. 

6 The Policy  

There are some instances in which South Kesteven District Council will consider 

paying compensation voluntarily, and some in which we are legally obliged to do so.  

As well as statutory payments which are due, our decision to pay compensation may 

84

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 

Compensation Policy | Page 5 of 16 
 

take into account any quantifiable losses, a customer’s time and trouble, and any 

inconvenience caused.    

There are three types of compensation payment: 

• mandatory (such as statutory home loss payments) 

• quantifiable loss payments (where tenants can demonstrate actual loss) 

• discretionary payments (for time and trouble/ inconvenience) 

 

6.1 Mandatory Payments 

 6.1.1 Right to Repair 

Under the Right to Repair scheme, customers who are introductory or secure tenants 

of the Council may be entitled to compensation if certain types of urgent repairs to the 

property in which they live are not carried out within a set time period.   

The repair must be a ‘qualifying repair’ and cost the Council less than £250.  

Examples of qualifying repairs are: 

a) a leaking roof; 

b) the only toilet not flushing; 

c) total / partial loss of heating or hot water; or 

d) total / partial loss of electric power. 

If the qualifying repair is not completed within a set time period of either one, three or 

seven working days, a customer who is the tenant of the property may request that 

South Kesteven District Council appoint a different contractor to carry out the work 

instead.  Should the repair not be completed within the same time period for a second 

time, then the customer is eligible for compensation.  Up to £50 per repair job may be 

payable, at the rate of £10 plus £2 for every day, from the day after the end of the 

second time period until the repair work is completed. 

The Right to Repair scheme is covered by The Secure Tenants of Local Housing 

Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 (as amended) and the Leasehold 

Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993.  Full details of the defects which 

count as ‘qualifying repairs’ and the prescribed timescales in which work should be 

completed, are set out in Appendix A. 

6.1.2 Compensation for Improvements  

Customers of South Kesteven District Council who have a secure tenancy and have 

carried out improvement work to the property in which they live, may be entitled to 

claim compensation for the work when their tenancy ends.   

Examples of the improvements for which customers may claim compensation are as 

follows: 

a) fitting a bath / shower; 

b) new storage cupboards in bathroom / kitchen; 

c) new work surfaces for food preparation; 

d) installing loft insulation; 

85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122


 

Compensation Policy | Page 6 of 16 
 

e) double glazing (or other external window replacement); or 

f) re-wiring / provision of electrical fittings. 

Each type of improvement has a notional lifespan, which is used to help calculate 

how much compensation is payable.  As an indication, if a new kitchen worktop was 

fitted five years before the tenancy ended, at the cost of £500, then compensation of 

£250 may be payable (formula given in Appendix B). 

Compensation is only payable if the amount due is between £50 and £3,000.  The 

compensation may be reduced (or increased) if any of the following apply to the 

improvement work: 

g) the cost was excessive; 

h) it is of a higher quality than if the Council had properly undertaken the work; or 

i) the condition of the installation has deteriorated more or less quickly than 

expected (compared to the notional lifespan). 

If a customer wishes to claim compensation for improvements, they must:  

j) make their claim to the Council in writing; 

k) provide sufficient information about the improvement work; 

l) apply within 28 days before and 14 days after the end of their tenancy; 

m) have obtained the Council’s consent to the improvement work before they 

claim; and 

n) have started the improvement work after 1 April 1994. 

A customer may claim whether they are a sole or joint secure tenant, and are moving 

home via a mutual exchange, transfer or becoming a tenant of another social 

landlord.  Some of the reasons for which improvements are ineligible for 

compensation are: the tenancy has ended due to eviction, the customer has 

exercised the Right to Buy, or a new tenancy of substantially the same property has 

been granted to the claimant. 

This type of statutory compensation is covered by The Secure Tenants of Local 

Authorities (Compensation for Improvements) Regulations 1994, which set out what 

counts as a ‘qualifying improvement’ and how the amount of compensation is 

calculated.  Further details are included in Appendix B. 

6.1.3 Home Loss / Disturbance Payments 

‘Home loss payments’ and ‘disturbance payments’ are two types of statutory 

compensation which are covered by the Land Compensation Act 1973, as amended 

by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.   

6.1.3.1 Home loss payments 

A customer living in a residential property for which South Kesteven District Council is 

the landlord (including owners of leasehold properties) may claim a ‘home loss 

payment’ if they are required to move home permanently due to the redevelopment or 

demolition of the property.   

Full details are set out in the relevant legislation, including that the person claiming 

must: 

86

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/26/part/III/crossheading/home-loss-payments
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/34/part/III/crossheading/home-loss-payments


 

Compensation Policy | Page 7 of 16 
 

a) have occupied the property for at least 12 months; 

b) use it as their main residence; and 

c) have the necessary right to occupy, or legal interest in, the property. 

Claims must be made in writing and any payment made will be divided between 

customers who are joint tenants or leaseholders. 

The amount of ‘home loss payment’ due at the time of writing is set by the Home 

Loss Payments (Prescribed Amounts) (England) Regulations 2019.   

6.1.3.2 Disturbance payments 

Where a customer is not eligible for a ‘home loss payment’, for example they are 

required to move out of the property temporarily or have lived there for less than 12 

months, a ‘disturbance payment’ may be made.  This payment is for the reasonable 

costs of moving home, including as required: 

a) removal costs; 

b) disconnection and reconnection of home appliances (cookers, washing 

machines and showers); 

c) transferring a landline telephone number; 

d) redirecting mail; 

e) refitting carpets; or 

f) refitting a TV aerial or satellite dish. 

 

6.2 Quantifiable Loss Payments 

Standards of Repair 

 6.2.1 Decoration Grant 

The Council may pay to customers a contribution towards the cost of internal 

redecoration of a part or whole of the property: 

a) at the start of their tenancy if the standard of decoration does not meet the 

relevant standard; or 

b) during their tenancy after the completion of repair works to the property, such 

as extensive wiring or plumbing, which leave the decoration at a lower 

standard than it was found before the works began. 

Any contribution will be in the form of vouchers to be used to purchase decorating 

materials such as paint, to a maximum of £300 per property. 

6.2.2 Cooker Renewal 

There are some tenanted properties in the Council’s sheltered schemes which 

include use of a cooker provided by the Council.  Should the cooker become 

uneconomical to repair, a contribution of £200 will be made to customers for the 

replacement of the cooker which was provided with the property. 

87

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1117/regulation/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1117/regulation/2/made


 

Compensation Policy | Page 8 of 16 
 

6.3 Discretionary Payments 

Landlords are expected to have a compensation policy which provides guidance on 
when it will consider offering discretionary compensation. These are sometimes 
referred to as a gesture of goodwill. South Kesteven will consider discretionary 
payments for circumstances such as:  

• poor complaint handling 

• delays in providing a service e.g. in undertaking a repair 

• failure to provide a service that has been charged for 

• temporary loss of amenity 

• failure to meet target response times 

• loss of use of part of the property 

• failure to follow policy and procedure 

• unreasonable time taken to resolve a situation 
 

This list is not exclusive and the council will always work with the tenant to resolve 

any issues.  

Temporary Loss of Amenities 

Any compensation offered for loss of amenities applies to customers who are tenants 

of South Kesteven District Council. 

6.3.1 Usable Space 

The Council may offer compensation to customers on request for loss of usable 

space, as a proportion of the weekly rent due for the property. 

What constitutes an ‘unusable’ room will be considered on a case-by-case basis.  For 

example: an unsafe or collapsed floor or ceiling, severe damp, or the complete loss of 

electricity in the room.  When a room is regarded as unusable by our Repairs & 

Maintenance Team, compensation may be paid as follows: 

Complete loss of kitchen / bathroom: 

c) 25% of the weekly rent after 48 hours.  For loss of bathroom this is reduced to 

15% of weekly rent if a separate WC is available. 

d) Any compensation for loss of kitchen / bathroom where programmed 

maintenance works have been pre-arranged and advance notification has 

been given to resident(s), allowing alternative arrangements to be made, will 

take effect after four days instead of 48 hours. 

Complete loss of living area / bedroom: 

e) 20% of the weekly rent after seven days. 

6.3.2 Heating / Hot Water 

The Council may offer compensation on request to customers experiencing complete 

loss of the heating or hot water system.  This is set at £2 per calendar day for the loss 

of either heating or hot water (to a maximum of £4 per day).  Payment will be 

calculated from the day the need for repair was reported to the Council, to the day the 

repair was completed. 

88



 

Compensation Policy | Page 9 of 16 
 

6.3.3 Use of Dehumidifier  

Where use of a dehumidifier has been required for at least seven calendar days, the 

Council may offer on request £10 in compensation for each seven calendar day 

period. 

6.4       Right to Repair 

Under the Right to Repair scheme, customers who are introductory or secure tenants 

of the Council may be entitled to compensation if certain types of urgent repairs to the 

property in which they live are not carried out within a set time period.  

The repair must be a ‘qualifying repair’ and cost the Council less than 

£250.  Examples of qualifying repairs are: 

• a leaking roof; 

• the only toilet not flushing; 

• total / partial loss of heating or hot water; or 

• total / partial loss of electric power. 
 

If the qualifying repair is not completed within a set time period of either one, three or 

seven working days, a customer who is the tenant of the property may request that 

North Northamptonshire Council appoint a different contractor to carry out the work 

instead.  Should the repair not be completed within the same time period for a second 

time, then the customer is eligible for compensation.  Up to £50 per repair job may be 

payable, at the rate of £10 plus £2 for every day, from the day after the end of the 

second time period until the repair work is completed. 

The Right to Repair scheme is covered by The Secure Tenants of Local Housing 

Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 (as amended) and the Leasehold 

Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993.  Full details of the defects which 

count as ‘qualifying repairs’ and the prescribed timescales in which work should be 

completed, are set out in Appendix A. 

6.5       Compensation for Improvements   

Customers of North Northamptonshire Council who have a secure tenancy and have 

carried out improvement work to the property in which they live, may be entitled to 

claim compensation for the work when their tenancy ends.  

Examples of the improvements for which customers may claim compensation are as 

follows: 

• fitting a bath / shower; 

• new storage cupboards in bathroom / kitchen; 

• new work surfaces for food preparation; 

• installing loft insulation; 

• double glazing (or other external window replacement); or 

• re-wiring / provision of electrical fittings. 
 

Each type of improvement has a notional lifespan, which is used to help calculate 

how much compensation is payable.  As an indication, if a new kitchen worktop was 

89

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122


 

Compensation Policy | Page 10 of 16 
 

fitted five years before the tenancy ended, at the cost of £500, then compensation of 

£250 may be payable (formula given in Appendix B). 

Compensation is only payable if the amount due is between £50 and £3,000.  The 

compensation may be reduced (or increased) if any of the following apply to the 

improvement work: 

• the cost was excessive; 

• it is of a higher quality than if the Council had properly undertaken the work; or 

• the condition of the installation has deteriorated more or less quickly than 
expected (compared to the notional lifespan). 

• If a customer wishes to claim compensation for improvements, they must: 

• make their claim to the Council in writing; 

• provide sufficient information about the improvement work; 

• apply within 28 days before and 14 days after the end of their tenancy; 

• have obtained the Council’s consent to the improvement work before they claim; 
and 

• have started the improvement work after 1 April 1994. 
 

A customer may claim whether they are a sole or joint secure tenant, and are moving 

home via a mutual exchange, transfer or becoming a tenant of another social 

landlord.  Some of the reasons for which improvements are ineligible for 

compensation are: the tenancy has ended due to eviction, the customer has 

exercised the Right to Buy, or a new tenancy of substantially the same property has 

been granted to the claimant. 

This type of statutory compensation is covered by The Secure Tenants of Local 

Authorities (Compensation for Improvements) Regulations 1994, which set out what 

counts as a ‘qualifying improvement’ and how the amount of compensation is 

calculated.  Further details are included in Appendix B. 

6.6       Home Loss / Disturbance Payments 

‘Home loss payments’ and ‘disturbance payments’ are two types of statutory 

compensation which are covered by the Land Compensation Act 1973, as amended 

by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.  

6.6.1    Home loss payments 

A customer living in a residential property for which North Northamptonshire Council 

is the landlord (including owners of leasehold properties) may claim a ‘home loss 

payment’ if they are required to move home permanently due to the redevelopment or 

demolition of the property.  

Full details are set out in the relevant legislation, including that the person claiming 

must: 

• have occupied the property for at least 12 months; 

• use it as their main residence; and 

• have the necessary right to occupy, or legal interest in, the property. 
 

90

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/26/part/III/crossheading/home-loss-payments
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/34/part/III/crossheading/home-loss-payments


 

Compensation Policy | Page 11 of 16 
 

Claims must be made in writing and any payment made will be divided between 

customers who are joint tenants or leaseholders. 

The amount of ‘home loss payment’ due at the time of writing is set by the Home 

Loss Payments (Prescribed Amounts) (England) Regulations 2019.  

6.6.2    Disturbance payments 

Where a customer is not eligible for a ‘home loss payment’, for example they are 

required to move out of the property temporarily or have lived there for less than 12 

months, a ‘disturbance payment’ may be made.  This payment is for the reasonable 

costs of moving home, including as required: 

• removal costs; 

• disconnection and reconnection of home appliances (cookers, washing machines 
and showers); 

• transferring a landline telephone number; 

• redirecting mail; 

• refitting carpets; or 

• refitting a TV aerial or satellite dish. 
 

6.7 Pre-action Protocol for Disrepair 

In an instance that we have been notified of a need for repair to one of our residential 

dwellings or blocks of flats, but have failed to rectify the problem, a customer may 

wish to make a claim against South Kesteven District Council for disrepair.  The pre-

action protocol sets out a process for customers (whether tenant, leaseholder, or 

resident member of their family), and the Council to follow.   

The protocol aims to avoid the need to go to Court by finding an appropriate solution 

via alternative methods of resolution, such as: 

a) the Council’s complaints procedure (see 8); 

b) the Right to Repair scheme (see 6.4); or 

c) the Housing Ombudsman Service. 

Details of the pre-action protocol for disrepair, including template letters, can be found 

on the Ministry of Justice website. 

7 Ineligibility for Compensation 

7.1  There are some instances in which a customer will not be eligible for compensation 

under the above schemes.  These may include (and are not limited to) situations 

where: 

a) a temporary repair is carried out; 

b) customers have not fully co-operated with our contractors to aid timely completion 

of a repair (such as contractors making reasonable efforts to access the property 

without success); 

c) loss or damage has been caused to the property by a resident, family member or 

visitor; 

91

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1117/regulation/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1117/regulation/2/made
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot_hou


 

Compensation Policy | Page 12 of 16 
 

d) repair work is delayed or not completed because the repair was not reported to 

the Council; 

e) repair work is cancelled due to unforeseen circumstances such as extreme 

weather conditions;  

f) loss of amenity is caused by unavoidable conditions beyond the Council’s fault or 

control, such as utilities outage, extreme weather, or fire;  

g) improvement or repair works to the property result in unavoidable low level 

damage, for example temporary removal of or holes in floor coverings caused by 

plumbing work;  

h) alterations or improvements are made to the property by the customer without 

written approval from the Council or to an inadequate standard; or 

i) the Council is not responsible for the repair work. 

8 Responsibilities 

8.1 Customers are responsible for adhering to their respective tenancy or lease 

agreements with South Kesteven District Council.  Breaches of agreement will be 

addressed in accordance with the relevant policy, ensuring any action taken is 

reasonable and proportionate given the circumstance and the impact of the breach. 

Depending on the breach of agreement, and any relevant legislation, this may result 

in compensation not being payable. 

8.2 Where a customer has a debt owed to the Council any compensation will be first 

applied to the account which is in debt to clear or reduce the outstanding balance.  

This includes (but not exclusively) debts relating to a current or former tenancy 

account, leaseholder account, council tax or other sundry debts. 

 This applies to all cases of compensation apart from section 6.6: Home Loss / 

Disturbance Payments. 

8.3 The compensation payments shall be signed off and authorised by either the Head of 

Housing, the Head of Technical Services, the Assistant Director of Housing or the 

Director of Housing and Property. 

 

9 Complaints 

9.1  Details of South Kesteven District Council’s corporate complaints process can be 

found on our website and are available in other formats on request.  The procedure 

includes three stages which attempt to resolve any dissatisfaction with the Council’s 

services, followed by the right of appeal should a customer wish to do so.   

9.2 We will meet all legal and regulatory requirements and will adhere to any actions or 

compensations ordered by the Housing Ombudsman or Local Government 

Ombudsman, as part of their findings following a complaint.  

10 Related Policies and Documents  

• Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code  

92

https://aha.adactushousing.co.uk/Information?t=42;d=436
https://aha.adactushousing.co.uk/Information?t=42;d=436
https://aha.adactushousing.co.uk/Information?t=42;d=436


 

Compensation Policy | Page 13 of 16 
 

• Tenancy Policy 

• Tenancy Agreement 

•  Tenancy Handbook 

• Leasehold Management Policy 

•  Asset Management Strategy 

•  Recharge Policy 

• Aids and Adaptations Policy for Council Tenants 

•  Complaint’s policies and procedures 

•  Equality and Diversity Framework 

11 Review 

11.1 This Policy will be reviewed every three years, unless legislative or regulatory changes 

require an earlier review.  If Council staff become aware that there are problems with 

effective operation of the Policy or the associated procedures, they should report this 

to the Policy Owner.  This feedback will be incorporated into the Policy / procedural 

review process.  

93



 

Compensation Policy | Page 14 of 16 
 

APPENDIX A:  Right to Repair 

 

The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994, 

Schedule: 

Defect Prescribed period 

(in working days) 

Total loss of electric power 1 

Partial loss of electric power 3 

Unsafe power or lighting socket, or electrical fitting 1 

Total loss of water supply 1 

Partial loss of water supply 3 

Total or partial loss of gas supply 1 

Blocked flue to open fire or boiler 1 

Total or partial loss of space or water heating between 31st 

October and 1st May 

1 

Total or partial loss of space or water heating between 30th April 

and 1st November 

3 

Blocked or leaking foul drain, soil stack, or (where there is no 

other working toilet in the dwelling-house) toilet pan 

1 

Toilet not flushing (where there is no other working toilet in the 

dwelling-house) 

1 

Blocked sink, bath or basin 3 

Tap which cannot be turned 3 

Leaking from water or heating pipe, tank or cistern 1 

Leaking roof 7 

Insecure external window, door or lock 1 

94

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/schedule/made


 

Compensation Policy | Page 15 of 16 
 

Defect Prescribed period 

(in working days) 

Loose or detached bannister or hand rail 3 

Rotten timber flooring or stair tread 3 

Door entry phone not working 7 

Mechanical extractor fan in internal kitchen or bathroom not 

working 

7 

 

For full conditions please refer to the relevant legislation.   

95



 

Compensation Policy | Page 16 of 16 
 

APPENDIX B:  Compensation for Improvements 

 

The Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Compensation for Improvements) Regulations 
1994, Schedule: 

Qualifying Improvement Notional 

Life 

1. Bath or shower. 12 

2. Wash-hand basin. 12 

3. Toilet. 12 

4. Kitchen sink 10 

5. Storage cupboards in bathroom or kitchen. 10 

6. Work surfaces for food preparation. 10 

7. Space or water heating. 12 

8. Thermostatic radiator valves. 7 

9. Insulation of pipes, water tank or cylinder. 10 

10. Loft insulation. 20 

11. Cavity wall insulation. 20 

12. Draught proofing of external doors or windows. 8 

13. Double glazing or other external window replacement or secondary 

glazing. 

20 

14. Rewiring or the provision of power and lighting or other electrical fittings 

(including smoke detectors). 

15 

15. Any object which improves the security of the dwelling-house, but 

excluding burglar alarms. 

10 

 
For full conditions please refer to the relevant legislation. 

96

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/613/schedule/made


Appendix 2a 
 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Housing Compensation Policy 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
 
Housing 

Lead officer: 
Craig Spence 

Date of Meeting  
 
14/03/22 Assessors: 

Celia Bown 
Ken Linford 

Neutral Assessor: 
Stacy Carter 

  

97

Appendix Two



Appendix 2a 
 

2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This Housing Compensation Policy aims to provide redress, to restore a 
person to the position that they would have been in had the service failure 
not occurred. 
 
Within the scope of this Policy are all current and former tenants, and 
leaseholders living in South Kesteven District Council’s residential 
properties, including sheltered schemes, blocks of flats and maisonettes.  
 
This Policy clearly sets out how South Kesteven District Council will meet its 
legal obligations to offer compensation payments in a fair and proportionate 
manner. Each case shall be considered on its individual merits, with the 
appropriate levels of discretion and common sense applied, whilst promoting 
consistency. 
 
There are three types of compensation payment: 

• mandatory (such as statutory home loss payments) 

• quantifiable loss payments (where people can demonstrate 

actual loss) 

• discretionary payments (for time and trouble/distress and 

inconvenience) 

Mandatory compensation payments include those covered by The Right to 
Repair scheme in accordance with The Secure Tenants of Local Housing 
Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations 1994 (as amended) and the 
Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993. 
 
Examples of qualifying repairs are: 

 

a) a leaking roof; 

b) the only toilet not flushing; 

c) total / partial loss of heating or hot water; or 

d) total / partial loss of electric power. 

 
The policy states in section 6.4 “if the qualifying repair is not completed 
within a set time period of either one, three or seven working days, a 
customer who is the tenant of the property may request that South Kesteven 
District Council appoint a different contractor to carry out the work instead.  
Should the repair not be completed within the same time period for a second 
time, then the customer is eligible for compensation”.  Staff training will be 

98

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1994/133/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/28/section/122


Appendix 2a 
 

3 

 

given on identifying customers who do not have the skill, knowledge and 
confidence to request the Council to appoint a different contractor. 
 
In section 7 – Ineligibility for Compensation, it states there are some 
instances in which a customer will not be eligible for compensation, such as 
“loss or damage has been caused to the property by a resident, family 
member or visitor”.  Discretion will be used in regards to tenants who are 
victims of domestic abuse and tenants with mental ill health issues or 
behaviour problems. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Negative Older people are more likely to 
suffer health problems such as 
dementia, hearing and sight 
and therefore are more likely 
to have difficulties in claiming 
compensation. 
 
To mitigate this, officers (either 
via our Tenancy Support Team 
or from a Housing Officer) will 
provide assistance to tenants 
to do this and 
enquiries/applications from 
relatives/carers/support 
workers of tenants can be 
made.  This will be 
communicated to tenants via 
officers including Customer 
Services personnel. 

Disability 
 

 

Negative A tenant with disabilities may 
have more difficulties in 
conveying their reasons for 
claiming compensation. 

99



Appendix 2a 
 

4 

 

 
To mitigate this, as above, 
officers can provide assistance 
for anyone having difficulties.  
Enquiries and applications on 
behalf of a tenant can be 
considered, with their consent. 

Race 
 

Negative Some tenants of a different 
nationality do not speak, read 
or write English as their first 
language and may face 
difficulties in claiming 
compensation. 
 
To mitigate this, enquiries and 
applications can be made by 
relatives/advocates for tenants 
and officers will use translation 
and interpretation services, 
where needed. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral This protected characteristic 
does not have an implication 
on the policy. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral Religion or belief does not 
negatively or positively have 
an impact on the policy. 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral This does not affect the 
implications of the policy. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic 
has been considered and does 
not adversely or positively 
affect the policy. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The implications of the policy 
will not differentiate people 
either negatively or positively 
on this basis. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The content of the policy will 
not differentiate people on this 
basis. 

Carers Neutral The implications of the policy 
will not differentiate people due 
to this protected characteristic. 

100



Appendix 2a 
 

5 

 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Neutral No other cohorts of people 
identified as affected by this 
policy. 

General 
comments 

An Equality Impact Assessment will also be undertaken for the 
procedures for the policy.  This is to ensure that in the 
implementation of the policy, where discretion can be used, 
decisions are made without any unconscious bias and officers 
use a consistent approach and are objective.  Training of 
officers will also be given to be aware of unconscious bias and 
to make objective decisions. 
 
Robust recruitment and procedures will be in place and full 
training will be given to officers, to prevent discrimination taking 
place. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Repairs and compensation data and information.   
 
The number and type of complaints received as part of our customer 
feedback has been used in formulating this policy.  If the Housing 
Ombudsman find failings in the delivery of housing services, compensation 
has to be awarded.  72 housing related complaints were made in 2020/21. 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

N/A 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

101



Appendix 2a 
 

6 

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

✓

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

102



Appendix 2a 
 

7 

 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Craig Spence 
(Name and title)   Assistant Director of Housing 
  

Date completed:  14/03/22  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Sam Fitt 
(Name and title)   Project Lead 
 

Date signed off:     10/05/22  
 

103



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

8 November 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Robert Reid, 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property  
 
 

 

 

Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 
 

Report Author 

Jodie Archer, Head of Housing Services 

  jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 has introduced a new statutory definition of domestic abuse, 
which legally requires Council’s to implement it as part of their strategic housing 
responsibilities.  The draft Domestic Abuse Policy sets out how the Council will respond to 
reports of domestic abuse, including both as a landlord and when people approach as 
homeless and for housing advice.  This report seeks Cabinet consideration to formally 
adopt the Domestic Abuse Policy. 
 

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of the report, the consultation responses and Equality Impact 
Assessment. 

2. Approves the Domestic Abuse Policy. 

3. Delegates authority to the Director of Housing and Property, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property to make minor amendments to the 
Domestic Abuse Policy as needed by changes to regulation or legislation. 

 

 

105

Agenda Item 6

mailto:jodie.archer@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The costs associated with the implementation of this policy will be met from 

approved Housing Revenue Account and Housing General Fund budgets.  

Where eligible the Council will be able recover some of the costs associated with 

temporary accommodation through Housing Benefit. 

 

Completed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2  There are no specific legal considerations other than as set out in the primary 

legislation and associated regulations and statutory guidance.  The policy sets 

out procedures the Council will undertake to carry out its statutory duty in 

accordance with such legislation. 

Completed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (Appendix 2) has not identified any potential for 

discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to promote equality 

have been taken. 

 

 

106



Community Safety  

 

1.4 The implementation of the policy will bring positive implications to community 

safety due to safeguarding people affected by domestic abuse and in some 

cases, taking legal action against the perpetrators. 

 

2. Background to the Report 

 
2.1 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 has introduced a new statutory definition of 

domestic abuse, which legally requires Council’s to implement it as part of their 

strategic housing responsibilities.  The draft Domestic Abuse Policy sets out how 

the Council will respond to reports of domestic abuse, including both as a 

landlord and when people approach as homeless and for housing advice. 

2.2 The Housing Act 1996 created a new ground of domestic abuse, giving 

registered social landlords the power to evict a perpetrator of domestic abuse, 

whether or not they are a joint or sole tenant of the property.  

2.3 The policy sets out how the Council will take steps to assist and support any 

person suffering from, or threatened with, domestic abuse. It applies to all 

customers of the Council, including tenants and any other residents living in our 

properties. 

2.4 It sets out how the Council will work in partnership with people affected by 

domestic abuse and other agencies to address the issues that are caused by 

domestic abuse. 

2.5 The policy will assist the Council in monitoring and continually improving its 

performance in identifying and responding to reports of domestic abuse.  It will 

assist the Council to meet the long-standing aspirations within its Corporate Plan, 

particularly: “Housing that meets the needs of all residents” and “Healthy and 

strong communities”.  

2.6 It will also assist the Council to meet the aims within the Safer Lincolnshire 

Partnership. This is the single multi–agency forum for addressing community 

safety issues across Lincolnshire. Within the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership there 

is a Core Priority Group focusing specifically on Domestic Abuse. 

2.7 The council has sourced funding for a Domestic Abuse Support Worker to work 

within the core teams to ensure that our response to domestic abuse is 

embedded within daily business.  

2.8 The council is committed to the white ribbon campaign which takes place on the 

25th of November 2022 which coincides with 16 days of action against domestic 

violence.  

2.9 On adoption of the policy the council intends to deliver training via the Domestic 

Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) to upskill all front-line staff.  

2.10 The policy re-enforces that we will: 

107



2.10.1 Allow people to report incidents of domestic abuse to us in a variety of ways, 

either directly or via a third person. 

2.10.2 Meet the person affected by domestic abuse at an agreed safe venue and 

provide information and advice on services including support, as early as 

possible. 

2.10.3 Make a referral to adult/children safeguarding services, where there is concern 

about serious harm. 

2.10.4 Consider the use of the ‘Sanctuary Scheme’ where a need for additional home 

security (e.g., security lights, window locks) is identified. 

2.10.5 On a case-by-case basis, the Council may consider that a perpetrator of 

domestic abuse does not qualify to join the housing register on the grounds of 

anti–social or criminal behaviour, in line with our Housing Allocation Policy. 

2.10.6 Attempt to identify any of our tenants and members of their household 

experiencing domestic abuse at the earliest stages of a tenancy and will deal 

sensitively with any history of domestic abuse.  Additionally, we will agree an 

action plan with the resident experiencing domestic abuse, monitor the situation 

and review at a frequency agreed with them. 

2.10.7 In cases where the property has been damaged by a perpetrator of domestic 

abuse, repairs will be carried out by the Council and re-charged to the 

perpetrator. Where appropriate, the Council may seek to take direct action 

against the perpetrator and report the damage to the police as a crime.   

2.10.8 Discuss with the resident experiencing domestic abuse various options which 

may include eviction of a perpetrator and they will be reassured of necessary 

support from the Council or other agencies. 

2.10.9 Keep all information disclosed as confidential between the various agencies, in 

line with their normal working practices. However, in the interest of the public and 

the statutory duties of agencies, this can at times override the duty of 

confidentiality. 

 

3. Key Considerations 

 
3.1 Adoption of the policy shall ensure the Council’s legal responsibilities are met in 

line with the statutory definition of domestic abuse, as detailed in the Domestic 

Abuse Act 2021. 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 Option 1 – Do not implement the new policy and instead operate within the 

framework of the Lincolnshire Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 – 2024 

and the Council’s Safeguarding Policy. 

4.2 Option 2 – to implement a new Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy setting 

out specifically how the Council will manage reports of domestic abuse, as a 

108



landlord and as the strategic housing authority for homelessness and housing 

advice. 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 Option 2 provides detailed information on how, as a Council we will meet our 

statutory responsibilities to our tenants, members of their household and people 

approaching for housing advice and homelessness assistance if they are affected 

by domestic abuse. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 All domestic abuse partners across Lincolnshire were consulted on the proposed 

policy for them to feedback their comments.  This included the Police, Lincolnshire 

County Council, support services, the NHS, and other local authorities.  We 

received two responses.  Their comments can be found at Appendix 3. 

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 None. 

 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft policy 

8.2 Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment 

8.3     Appendix 3 – Consultation responses table 

 

109



This page is intentionally left blank



2022/25
 

Domestic  
Abuse 
Policy 

111

Appendix One



2

Contents
1. Introduction 3
2. Scope and purpose of the policy 3
3. Strategic context 3
4. Legislation and guidance 4
5. Equality and diversity 5
6. The policy 5
6.1. Our approach 5
6.2. Common principles 5
6.3. Legal action 7
6.4. Responsibilities 8
7.	 Confidentiality	 9
8.	 Related	policies	and	documents	 9
9.	 Review	 9

Appendix A 10
Appendix B 12

112



3

1. Introduction
1.1.	 Three	simple	facts	that	are	difficult	 

to read: 

■	 Domestic	abuse	is	a	leading	cause	of	
homelessness	for	women	in	the	UK	

■	 Two	women	are	killed	by	their	partner	or	 
ex–partner	every	week	

■	 One	in	four	women	and	one	in	six	men	
experience	domestic	abuse	in	their	lifetime

1.2.	 Research	shows	that	domestic	abuse	is	
known	to	escalate	in	severity	and	frequency	
over	time	and	the	sooner	it	is	identified	and	
responded	to,	the	better.	That	is	where	a	local	
authority	like	South	Kesteven	District	Council	
comes	in	–	we	have	a	unique	and	close	
relationship	with	our	residents.

1.3.	 While	the	human	cost	is	immeasurable,	
tackling	domestic	abuse	also	makes	business	
sense.	60%	of	survivors	of	domestic	abuse	
are	in	rent	arrears	of	£1,000	or	more.	
Early	intervention	to	support	people	who	
are	experiencing	domestic	abuse	helps	
sustain	tenancies	and	build	safe,	thriving	
communities.	

2. Scope and 
purpose of  
the policy
2.1.	 This	policy	sets	out	how	the	Council	will	

take	steps	to	assist	and	support	any	person	
suffering	from,	or	threatened	with,	domestic	
violence	or	abuse.	It	applies	to	all	customers	
of	the	Council,	including	tenants	and	non–
tenants	living	in	our	properties.

2.2.	 It	sets	out	how	the	Council	will	work	in	
partnership	to	address	the	issues	that	are	
caused	by	domestic	abuse.

2.3.	 This	policy	will	assist	the	Council	in	
monitoring	and	continually	improving	its	
performance	in	identifying	and	responding	to	
reports	of	domestic	abuse.

3. Strategic  
context
3.1.	 This	policy	will	assist	the	Council	to	meet	the	

longstanding	aspirations	within	its	Corporate	
Plan,	particularly:	

 “Housing that meets the  
needs of all residents”

 “Healthy and strong 
communities”

It	will	also	assist	the	Council	to	meet	the	aims	
within	the	Safer	Lincolnshire	Partnership.	This	
is	the	single	multi–agency	forum	for	addressing	
community	safety	issues	across	Lincolnshire.	
Within	the	Safer	Lincolnshire	Partnership	is	a	Core	
Priority	Group	focusing	specifically	on	Domestic	
Abuse.	The	Safer	Lincolnshire	Partnership	aims	to:
 
■	 Reduce	crime	and	disorder	and	increase	the	

safety	of	individuals	and	communities	across	
Lincolnshire	

■	 Ensure	those	living,	working	or	visiting	
Lincolnshire	feel	safe	and	are	equipped	to	
cope	with	any	hazards	or	threats	they	may	
encounter

■	 Improve	communication,	coordination	and	
cooperation	between	agencies	allowing	
them	to	work	together	more	efficiently	and	
effectively

113



4

4.1.	 The	Domestic	Abuse	Act	2021	has	introduced	
the	following	statutory	definition	of	domestic	
abuse:	

Behaviour	by	a	person	(A)	towards	another
person	(B)	is	domestic	abuse	if	–	

a)	 A	and	B	are	aged	16	or	over	and	are	
personally	connected

b)	 the	behaviour	is	abusive	

The	Act	includes	in	this	definition	behaviour	by	A	
that	is	directed	towards	another	person,	such	as	 
B’s	child.

4.2.	 This	can	encompass,	but	is	not	limited	to,	the	
following	types	of	abusive	behaviour:	

■	 Physical	or	sexual	abuse
■	 Violent	or	threatening	behaviour	
■	 Controlling	or	coercive	behaviour
■	 Economic	abuse	
■	 Psychological,	emotional	or	other	abuse	

(See	Appendix	A	for	expanded	definitions)

4.3.	 Domestic	abuse	has	been	criminalised	and	
the	various	types	are	covered	by	different	
legislation.

4.4.	 The	Housing	Act	1996	created	a	new	ground	
of	domestic	abuse,	giving	registered	social	
landlords	the	power	to	evict	a	perpetrator	of	
domestic	abuse,	whether	or	not	they	are	a	
joint	or	sole	tenant	of	the	property.

4.5.	 South	Kesteven	District	Council	has	legal	
responsibilities	in	managing	personal	data.	
We	recognise	that	incidents	of	domestic	
abuse	are	extremely	sensitive	and	are	private	
incidents	for	survivors	to	report,	and	will	
ensure	total	confidentiality	on	any	cases	that	
are	reported	(with	reference	to	section	7	of	
this	policy).	Information	about	the	Council’s	
Privacy	Notice	is	available	on	our	website	at:	
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

4. Legislation and guidance

114



5

5. Equality and 
diversity 

5.1.	 The	Council	recognises	that	it	deals	with	a	
diverse	range	of	people	including	those	who	
are	vulnerable	and	in	highly	stressful	personal	
circumstances.	It	will	therefore:	

■	 Ensure	that	all	individuals	and	households	
are	treated	sympathetically	and	with	courtesy	
and	respect	

■	 Be	sensitive	and	respond	to	the	individual	
needs	and	circumstances	of	the	people	using	
its	services	

■	 Monitor	its	services	and	the	outcomes	for	
people	using	them	in	order	to	ensure	that	
they	are	fair	and	responsive	to	needs

5.2.	 To	support	the	needs	of	customers	whose	
first	language	is	not	English,	the	Council	will	
provide	translation	and	interpretation	services	
when	needed.	The	Council	will	also	ensure	
that	information	is	accessible	and	available	
in	other	formats	such	as	large	print,	tape	and	
Braille,	as	needed.

6. The policy
6.1.Our	approach

We	believe	that	no	one	should	live	in	fear	of	
violence	or	abuse.	We	take	domestic	abuse	
seriously	and	are	committed	to	providing	a	sensitive	
and	confidential	response	to	anyone	approaching	
us	for	assistance	in	cases	of	domestic	abuse.	
The	Council	believes	it	can	make	a	stand	in	its	
community	safety	role	(i.e.	as	a	community	leader	
and	as	a	landlord).	Above	all,	we	have	a	zero	
tolerance	approach	to	domestic	abuse.

6.2.	 Common	principles 

The	Council	adopts	common	principles	and,	as	a
local	authority,	we	will:

a)	 Enable	people	to	report	domestic	abuse	to	

us	in	different	ways,	including	in	person,	in	
writing,	by	telephone,	online	or	via	a	third	
party	such	as	a	police	officer.

b)	 Ensure	that	people	experiencing	domestic	
abuse	know	that	they	can	meet	staff	in	
confidence	at	our	offices	or	at	an	agreed	
choice	of	safe	venue.	

c)	 Ensure	that	people	experiencing	domestic	
abuse	are	provided	with	information	on	
appropriate	services	as	early	as	possible	(see	
Appendix	B)	and	are	given	advice	to	allow	
them	to	make	choices	about	what	to	do	next.	

	 This	can	include:	

■	 Contacting	the	police	if	not	already	done	so
■	 Completion	of	a	Multi–Agency	Risk	

Assessment	(MARAC)
■	 Completion	of	a	Domestic	Abuse,	Stalking	

and	Harrassment	and	Honor	Based	Violence	
(DASH)	risk	assessment		

■	 Options	for	short	and	longer	term	housing	
and	property	security	

■	 Advice	on	welfare	benefits	
■	 Legal	options	and	where	to	get	advice
■	 Referral	to	the	specialist	outreach	support	

services	in	Lincolnshire	(provided	by	EDAN	
Lincs)	or	other	appropriate	service	provider		

■	 Referral	to,	or	advice	on	how	to,	self–refer	to	
the	National	Centre	for	Domestic	Violence

. 
d)	 Ensure	that	where	children	and	young	people	

are	affected	by	domestic	abuse,	they	too	
have	access	to	services	as	early	as	possible	
in	line	with	the	relevant	policy.	

e)	 Follow	the	relevant	safeguarding	procedures	
if	we	believe	a	child,	young	person	or	
vulnerable	adult	is	at	risk	due	to	an	abusive	
relationship.	

f)	 Where	a	report	of	domestic	abuse	is	received	
via	a	professional	third	party	e.g.	a	police	
officer,	we	will	seek	to	establish	from	the	third	
party	what	details	have	been	taken,	what	
support	is	in	place	and	what	is	required	from	
us.	Where	required	we	will	then	contact	the	
person	experiencing	domestic	abuse	directly	
and	offer	support.	

g)	 Share	information	with	and	attend	MARAC.	
For	cases	which	meet	the	MARAC	risk	
rating	threshold	or	if	we	have	child	protection	

115



6

concerns,	we	have	a	legal	duty	to	share	this	
with	agencies.	In	cases	where	the	threshold	
is	not	met,	with	the	agreement	of	the	person	
experiencing	domestic	abuse,	we	will	make	
referrals	to	other	support	from	relevant	
agencies	(vulnerability	conferences,	police,	
victim	support	etc.).	

h)	 We	will	recommend	a	person	experiencing	
domestic	abuse	contacts	the	police,	if	they	
wish.	However,	where	there	is	concern	about	
serious	harm,	a	report	will	be	made	to	the	
police	and/or	MARAC	and/or	adult/children	
safeguarding	without	consent.	

i)	 Where	a	need	for	additional	home	security	
(e.g.	security	lights,	window	locks)	is	identified,	
permission	will	be	sought	immediately	from	
the	property	owner	or	landlord,	or	granted	
if	the	Council	is	the	landlord,	subject	to	
agreement	on	who	will	maintain	such	items.	
Use	of	a	Sanctuary	Scheme	will	be	considered	
where	appropriate.	

j)	 Support	survivors	of	domestic	abuse	to	rebuild	
their	lives	by	working	in	partnership	with	them	
and	other	support	agencies.	

k)	 On	a	case	by	case	basis,	the	Council	may	
consider	that	a	perpetrator	of	domestic	abuse	
does	not	qualify	to	join	the	housing	register	
on	the	grounds	of	anti–social	or	criminal	
behaviour,	in	line	with	our	Housing	Allocation	
Policy.	

l)	 Publicise	our	approach,	both	in	print	and	
digitally,	to	raise	awareness	amongst	staff	and	
residents,	with	the	aim	of	increasing	reports	of	
domestic	abuse.	

m)	 Make	domestic	abuse	awareness	training	
available	for	all	frontline	staff	working	with	
residents.	

6.2.1.	As	a	landlord	we	will:

a)	 Attempt	to	identify	a	resident	experiencing	
domestic	abuse	at	the	earliest	stages	of	a	
tenancy	and	will	deal	sensitively	with	any	
history	of	domestic	abuse.	If	a	history	is	
disclosed,	additional	security	measures	will	be	
considered.	

b)	 Agree	an	action	plan	with	the	resident	
experiencing	domestic	abuse,	monitor	the	
situation	and	review	at	a	frequency	agreed	
with	them.	

c)	 Ensure	that	residents	experiencing	domestic	
abuse	know	that	they	can	meet	staff	in	

confidence	at	our	offices	or	at	an	agreed	
choice	of	safe	venue.	

d)	 In	cases	where	the	property	has	been	
damaged	by	a	perpetrator	of	domestic	abuse,	
repairs	will	be	carried	out	by	the	Council	
in	line	with	the	relevant	policy.	Although	a	
crime	reference	number	is	usually	required,	
in	exceptional	circumstances,	the	Tenancy	
Services	Manager	has	the	authority	to	
waive	this	condition.	Any	damage	should	
be	photographed	and	noted	and	a	recharge	
raised	to	the	perpetrator.	Where	appropriate,	
the	Council	may	seek	to	take	direct	action	
against	the	perpetrator	and	report	the	damage	
to the police as a crime.  

6.3.	 	Legal	action

6.3.1.	In	terms	of	any	criminal	investigation,	input	
and	assistance	from	the	relevant	Housing	and	
Neighbourhood	Services	teams	will	be	given	
to	the	police	on	request	and	as	set	out	in	this	
policy.

6.3.2.	Injunctions

	 Injunctions	against	the	perpetrator	can	be	
sought	by	the	person	experiencing	domestic	
abuse,	who	will	need	to	give	a	statement	and	
attend	Court,	as	follows:	

■	 Via	the	services	of	a	local	solicitor	
■	 By	applying	directly	to	the	courts	
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/form-fl401-application-for-a-
non-molestation-order-occupation-order),	
representing	themselves,	and	engaging	the	
services	of	a	process	server	

■	 Through	the	National	Centre	for	Domestic	
Violence,	who	will	prepare	the	statement	on	
their	behalf.	www.ncdv.org.uk

In	cases	of	domestic	abuse,	an	injunction	would	
normally	involve	the	perpetrator	not	being	allowed	to	
enter	the	locality	of	the	survivor’s	home.	

From	a	landlord	perspective,	injunctions	would	
be	more	appropriate	where	the	perpetrator	is	a	
household	member	and	not	a	tenant	of	the	Council.	
Where	relevant,	an	interim	injunction	will	be	sought	
pending	the	outcome	of	a	possession	hearing.

116



7

6.3.3.		Eviction	of	perpetrator	–	landlord	role

	 Options	which	may	include	eviction	of	a	
perpetrator	will	be	discussed	with	the	resident	
experiencing	domestic	abuse	and	they	will	
be	reassured	of	necessary	support	from	the	
Council	or	other	agencies.	

	 Approval	to	seek	a	possession	order	with	a	
view	to	eviction	should	be	sought	from	the	
Tenancy	Services	Manager.	Considerations	
including	the	survivor’s	wishes,	evidence	of	
abuse,	serious	breaches	of	other	tenancy	
obligations,	under–occupation	and	any	known	
vulnerabilities	of	all	involved	will	be	taken	into	
account.

Where	seeking	possession	is	the	agreed	route,	an	
appropriate	Notice	of	Seeking	Possession	will	be	
served	on	the	perpetrator	if	they	are	a	joint	or	sole	
tenant.	

If	the	property	is	not	vacated	by	the	effective	date	

of	the	Notice	of	Seeking	Possession	then	action	for	
possession	will	be	instigated.

In	some	cases	it	may	be	appropriate	to	advise	a	
survivor	of	domestic	abuse	to	end	their	joint	tenancy.	
This	route	would	only	be	considered	if	the	survivor	
had	already	left	the	property	and	had	no	intention	
to	return	while	the	perpetrator	remained.	This	would	
assist	in	limiting	financial	abuse	by	ending	the	
survivor’s	liability	for	any	rent	due	from	the	date	of	
the	tenancy	termination.	Following	this	date,	the	
perpetrator	would	have	no	right	to	remain	in	the	
property	and	proceedings	for	possession	could	be	
instigated	for	unlawful	occupation.

6.4.	 Responsibilities

6.4.1.	 We	will	provide	support	and	assistance	to	
residents	experiencing	domestic	abuse	
as	described	in	this	policy.	Residents	are	
responsible	for	cooperating	with	us	and	any	

117



8

 
support	agencies	involved.	

	 Where	residents	fail	to	engage	and	show	
no	signs	of	a	willingness	to	engage,	and	
where	the	behaviour	is	having	an	impact	on	
neighbours,	we	may	consider	addressing	
the	behaviour	under	the	relevant	anti–social	
behaviour	(ASB)	legislation.	

6.4.2.	 All	tenants	of	the	Council	are	responsible	
for	adhering	to	their	tenancy	agreement.	
Breaches	of	the	tenancy	agreement	will	
be	addressed	in	accordance	with	the	
relevant	policy,	ensuring	any	action	taken	
is	reasonable	and	proportionate	given	the	
tenant’s	circumstance	and	the	impact	of	their	
tenancy	breach.

118



9

7.	Confidentiality
In	the	operation	of	this	Policy,	information	will	
be	treated	as	confidential	between	the	various	
agencies	in	line	with	their	normal	working	practices.	
However,	it	must	be	remembered	that	public	
interest	and	the	statutory	duties	of	agencies	can	
at	times	override	the	duty	of	confidentiality	via	the	
inxformation	sharing	protocol.

8. Related 
policies and 
documents 

■	 Lincolnshire	Preventing	Domestic	Abuse	
Strategy	2021	–	2024

■	 Lincolnshire	County	Council	Safeguarding	
Children	Policy

■	 Lincolnshire	Safeguarding	Adults	Policy,	
Procedure	and	Process,	2017

■	 Equality	and	Diversity	Annual	Position	
Statement	2021

■	 Allocations	Policy
■	 Tenancy	Agreement
■	 The	Ministry	of	Defence,	No	Defence	for	

Abuse	2018–2023	
■	 National	Rural	Crime	Network	‘Captive	&	

Controlled’	Domestic	Abuse	in	Rural	areas	
(2019)

9.	Review
This	Policy	will	be	reviewed	every	three	years,	
unless	legislative	or	regulatory	changes	require	an	
earlier	review.	If	Council	staff	become	aware	that	
there	are	problems	with	effective	operation	of	the	
policy	or	the	associated	procedures,	they	should	
report	this	to	the	Policy	Owner.	This	feedback	will	
be	incorporated	into	the	Policy	/	procedural	review	
process.

119



10

Appendix	A	Terms	and	definitions
The		Domestic	Abuse	Act	2021describes	that:
 
1.	 Behaviour	by	a	person	(A)	towards	another	

person	(B)	is	domestic	abuse	if	–	

■	 A	and	B	are	each	aged	16	or	over	and	are	
personally	connected	

■	 the	behaviour	is	abusive	

2.	 Behaviour	is	abusive	if	it	consists	of	any	of	
the	following:	

■	 Physical	abuse	(including,	for	example,	
hitting,	punching,	kicking,	slapping,	hitting	
with	objects,	pulling	hair,	pushing	or	
shoving,	cutting	or	stabbing,	restraining,	
strangulation,	choking,	murder)	

■	 Sexual	abuse	(including,	for	example,	rape	
and	coerced	sex,	forcing	person	B	to	take	
part	in	unwanted	sexual	acts,	refusal	to	
practice	safe	sex	or	use	contraception)	

■	 Violent	or	threatening	behaviour	(such	as	
intentionally	putting	person	B	in	fear	of	
physical	or	mental	harm,	injury	or	material	
loss)	

■	 Controlling	behaviour	(this	could	include	a	
range	of	acts	designed	to	make	a	person	
subordinate	and/or	dependent	by	isolating	
them	from	sources	of	support,	exploiting	
their	resources	and	capacities	for	personal	
gain,	depriving	them	of	the	means	needed	
for	independence,	resistance	and	escape	
and	regulating	their	everyday	behaviour)	

■	 Coercive	behaviour	(including,	for	example,	
acts	or	a	pattern	of	acts	of	assault,	threats,	
humiliation	and	intimidation	or	other	abuse	
that	is	used	to	harm,	punish,	or	frighten	
person	B)

■	 Economic/financial	abuse	(see	section	3	
below)	

■	 Psychological,	emotional	or	other	abuse	
(such	as	creating	isolation	for	example	by	
limiting	or	preventing	other	social	activities	
and	relationships,	use	of	threats	such	as	to	
spread	rumours	or	to	cause	physical	harm,	
humiliation	and	undermining	the	person’s	
confidence)

3.	 Economic/Financial	abuse	means	any	
behaviour	that	has	a	substantial	adverse	
effect	on	B’s	ability	to	–	

■	 Acquire,	use	or	maintain	money	or	other	
property	

■	 Obtain	goods	or	services
 

4.	 A’s	behaviour	may	be	behaviour	toward	B	
despite	the	fact	that	it	consists	of	conduct	
directed	at	another	person	(for	example,	B’s	
child).

 
5.	 Two	people	are	personally	connected	if	any	

of	the	following	applies	–	

■	 They	are,	or	have	been,	married	to	each	
other 

■	 They	are,	or	have	been,	civil	partners	of	
each other 

■	 They	have	agreed	to	marry	one	another	
(whether	or	not	the	agreement	has	been	
terminated)	

■	 They	have	entered	into	a	civil	partnership	
agreement	(whether	or	not	the	agreement	
has	been	terminated)	

■	 They	are,	or	have	been,	in	an	intimate	
personal	relationship	with	each	other	

■	 They	each	have,	or	there	has	been	a	time	
when	they	each	have	had,	a	parental	
relationship	in	relation	to	the	same	child

■	 	they	are	relatives		
 
6.	 A	person	has	a	parental	relationship	in	

relation	to	a	child	if	–	

■	 The	person	is	a	parent	of	the	child;	or	
■	 The	person	has,	or	has	had,	parental	

responsibility	for	the	child.			

7.	 In	the		Domestic	Abuse	Act	2021	–	

■	 Child	means	a	person	under	the	age	of	18	
years	

■	 Civil	partnership	agreement	has	the	meaning	
given	by	section	73	of	the	Civil	Partnership	
Act 2004 

120



11

■	 Parental	responsibility	has	the	same	
meaning	as	in	the	Children	Act	1989;	and	

■	 Relative	has	the	meaning	given	by	section	
63(1)	of	the	Family	Law	Act	1996	

8.	 The	government’s	definition	of	domestic	
abuse	from	31	March	2013,	which	is	not	a	
legal	definition,	includes	so	called	honour–	
based	violence,	female	genital	mutilation	
(FGM)	and	forced	marriage,	and	recognises	
that	it	is	clear	that	people	experiencing	or	
surviving	domestic	abuse	are	not	confined	to	
one	gender	or	ethnic	group.	

9.	 The	Domestic	Abuse	Act	2021	states	how	
children	can	be	victims	of	domestic	abuse.		

	 Any	reference	in	the	Act	to	a	victim	of	
domestic	abuse	includes	a	reference	to	a	
child	who—

(a)		 sees	or	hears,	or	experiences	the	effects	of,	
the	abuse,	and

(b)		 is	related	to	A	or	B.

(3)	 A	child	is	related	to	a	person	if—

(a)		 the	person	is	a	parent	of,	or	has	parental	
responsibility	for,	the	child

(b)		 the	child	and	the	person	are	relatives.

(4)		 In	this	section—

■	 Child	means	a	person	under	the	age	of	18	
years

■	 Parental	responsibility	has	the	same	
meaning	as	in	the	Children	Act	1989	(see	
section	3	of	that	Act)

■	 Relative	has	the	meaning	given	by	section	
63(1)	of	the	Family	Law	Act	1996

121



12

Appendix B  
Further information on services
Lincolnshire Police 

■	 In	an	emergency	call	999	
■	 The	non–emergency	number	is	101	
■	 Domestic	abuse	(lincs.police.uk)

National services 

■	 National Centre for Domestic Violence: 
free	24hr	legal	helpline	specialising	in	
obtaining	injunctions.	Call	0800	970	2070	or	
text	NCDV	to	60777	for	a	call	back,	

	 www.ncdv.org.uk.	

■	 Women’s	Aid:	24hr	helpline	on	0808	2000	
247	run	by	Women’s	Aid	and	Refuge,	or	
email	(with	5	day	response	time)	

	 helpline@womensaid.org.uk.	Access	The	
Survivor’s	Handbook	at	www.womensaid.
org.uk/the-survivors-handbook/.	

■	 Refuge: helpline	as	above,	or	email	
helpline@refuge.org.uk,	www.refuge.org.uk.

 
■	 Men’s	Advice	Line:	for	men	experiencing	

domestic	abuse.	Call	0808	801	0327	
(Monday	to	Friday	9am	to	5pm)	or	email	
info@mensadviceline.org.uk	(two	day	
response	time),	www.mensadviceline.org.uk.

 
■	 ManKind Initiative:	helping	men	escape	

domestic	abuse.	Call	01823	334244	
(Monday	to	Friday,	10am	to	4pm),	www.
mankind.org.uk.	

■	 Galop:	LGBT+	domestic	abuse	helpline	on	
0800	999	5428	or	email	help@galop.org.uk,	
chat	online	at	www.galop.org.uk	(Monday	
to	Friday	10am	to	5pm,	Wednesday	and	
Thursday	also	5pm	to	8pm).	

■	 Karma Nirvana:	support	for	victims	of	
honour–based	abuse	and	forced	marriage.	
Call	0800	5999	247	(Monday	to	Friday	9am	
to	5pm)	or	email	info@karmanirvana.org.uk,	
karmanirvana.org.uk.	

■	 Childline:	helpline	on	0800	1111,	chat	online	
to	a	counsellor	or	email	via	www.childline.
org.uk.	

■	 The Hideout:	an	online	space	created	by	
Women’s	Aid	for	children	and	young	people,	
thehideout.org.uk.

 
■	 Civil	Legal	Advice	(CLA):	advice	as	part	

of	legal	aid.	Call	0345	345	4345	(Monday	
to	Friday	9am	to	8pm)	or	text	‘legalaid’	and	
your	name	to	80010	for	a	call	back,	www.
gov.uk/civil-legal-advice.

■	 FLOWS	(Finding	Legal	Options	for	Women	
Survivors):	www.flows.org.uk	

■	 Health	services	

Should	you	contact	any	of	these	services	and	find	
they	are	no	longer	in	existence	or	their	provision	has	
significantly	changed,	please	contact	the	Council’s	
customer	services	team	on 01476 406080.

122



13

To	ensure	all	residents	of	South	Kesteven	have	
access	to	our	information	material,	our	documents	
will	be	made	available	in	a	range	of	different	
languages	and	formats,	including	large	print,	Braille,	
audio	tape	and	computer	disc.

To	request	a	document	in	a	specific	language	or	
format,	you	can	ring	us	or	email	us	on:

'	 01476	40	60	80
* pr@southkesteven.gov.uk

This	information	can	be	made	
available	in	large	print,	Braille,	on	
audio	tape	or	computer	disc.	 
If	you,	or	someone	you	know,	 
might	benefit	from	this	service,	
please	contact	us.

Polski	/	Polish
Informacja	ta	może	być	dostępna	w	języku	polskim.	
Jeżeli	Pańswo	albo	ktoś	kogo	Państwo	znają,	może	
z	tej	usługi	skorzystać,	proszę	nas	kontaktować.	

繁体中文 / Cantonese
本資料有繁体中文版，若你本人或你認識的甚麼人會
受益於此版本，敬請聯絡我們。

Magyar / Hungarian
Ezeket	az	információkat	magyar	nyelven	is	tudjuk	
biztosítani.	Ha	Ön,	vagy	valaki,	akit	Ön	ismer	igényt	
tart	erre	a	szolgáltatásra,	kérem,	keressen	fel	
minket.

Latviski	/	Latvian
Šo	informāciju	var	iegūt	arī	latviešu	valodā.	Ja	Jums	
vai	kādai	no	Jūsu	paziņai	šādi	pakalpojumi	nāktu	
par	labu,	lūdzu	kontaktējiet	mūs.	

Lietuviškai	/	Lithuanian
Šią	informaciją	galite	gauti	lietuvių	kalba.	Prašome	
kreiptis	į	mus,	jei	jums	arba	jūsų	pažįstamiems	ši	
paslauga	galėtų	būti	naudinga.

Português / Portuguese
Esta	informação	pode	ser	disponibilizada	em	
português.	Se	você,	ou	alguém	que	conhecer,	
beneficiar	com	este	serviço,	por	favor	contacte-nos.

русский	/	Russian
Эта	информация	может	быть	доступна	крупным	
шрифтом,	шрифтом	Брайля,	на	аудиокассете	
или	на	компьютерном	диске.	Если	вы	или	кто-то	
из	ваших	знакомых	может	воспользоваться	этой	
услугой,	свяжитесь	с	нами.
 
Slovenský	/	Slovak
Tieto	informácie	je	možné	sprístupniť	veľkou	
tlačou,	Braillovým	písmom,	zvukovou	páskou	alebo	
počítačovým	diskom.	Ak	z	tejto	služby	môžete	mať	
úžitok	vy	alebo	niekto,	koho	poznáte,	kontaktujte	
nás

Pilipino / Tagalog
Ang	impormasyong	ito	ay	maaaring	magamit	sa	
malaking	print,	Braille,	sa	audio	tape	o	computer	
disc.	Kung	ikaw,	o	isang	taong	kilala	mo,	ay	
maaaring	makinabang	mula	sa	serbisyong	ito,	
mangyaring	makipag-ugnay	sa	amin

Français / French
Ces	informations	peuvent	être	mises	à	disposition	
en	gros	caractères,	en	braille,	sur	bande	audio	ou	
sur	un	disque	d’ordinateur.	Si	vous,	ou	quelqu’un	
que	vous	connaissez,	pourriez	bénéficier	de	ce	
service,	veuillez	nous	contacter.

Alternative formats  
and languages

123



Contact details
Alternative formats are available on request: 

audio, large print and Braille
 

South Kesteven District Council
01476 40 60 80  

 www.southkesteven.gov.uk

03
56
6R

T_
7.
22

124



1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Domestic Abuse Policy 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
 
Housing 

Lead officer: 
Jodie Archer 

Date of Meeting  
 
20/06/22 Assessors: 

Celia Bown 

Neutral Assessor: 
Susie McCahon 
 

  

125

Appendix Two



2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This policy sets out how the Council will respond to the Domestic Abuse 

Act 2021 in taking steps to assist and support any person suffering from or 

threatened with domestic violence or abuse. It applies to all customers of 

the Council, including all tenants, leaseholders and members of their 

household living in our properties. 

 

It sets out how the Council will work in partnership to address the issues 

that are caused by domestic abuse. 

 

We will: 

 

a) Enable people to report domestic abuse to us in confidence in 

different ways, including in person, in writing, by telephone, online or 

via a third party such as a police officer; support worker; friend or 

relative. 

 

b) Ensure that people experiencing domestic abuse know that they can 

meet staff in confidence at our offices or at an agreed choice of safe 

venue. 

 

c) Ensure that people experiencing domestic abuse are provided with 

information on appropriate services as early as possible and are 

given advice to allow them to make choices about what to do next. 

 

This policy will assist the Council in monitoring and continually improving 

its performance in identifying and responding to reports of domestic abuse. 

 

Staff training  is given to assist officers in identifying domestic abuse.  This 

is a high level of training which will include identifying domestic abuse, 

completing risk assessment forms and who to refer to the person to for 

support and to assess any safeguarding issues.  This training will be 

delivered by an external provider (Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance).  

There will also be recruitment to a specific domestic abuse worker for a 

three year part-time position. 

 

An EIA will also be undertaken on the operational procedures.  This is to 

ensure that the implementation of the policy is without any unconscious 

bias and officers use a consistent approach. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  

126



3 

 

 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/func
tion/strategy have 
a positive or 
negative impact on 
any of the equality 
groups?  
 
Please state which 
for each group 

Please describe why the impact is 
positive or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc is not 
relevant to a specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Positive The policy recognises that domestic 
abuse can affect people at any age 
including children, who may not be direct 
victims but can sometimes be witnesses 
to it. 

Disability 
 

 

Positive People with disabilities are especially 

vulnerable if they are a victim of domestic 

abuse.  The policy and the 

implementation of it allows for people to 

report domestic abuse in confidence and 

access services in a variety of ways 

including via a third party eg. a support 

worker. We will ensure that people 

experiencing domestic abuse know that 

they can meet staff in confidence at our 

offices or at an agreed choice of safe 

venue.  

Race 
 

Positive The policy recognises that domestic 
abuse can include so called ‘honour’ 
violence, female genital mutilation and 
forced marriage.  This sometimes occurs 
within families in certain religions and 
cultures, most commonly people of a 
Middle Eastern; South Asian or African 
origin. 
 
The policy sets out the specialist advice 
and assistance available to domestic 
abuse victims. 
 

127



4 

 

To support the needs of customers 

whose first language is not English, the 

Council provides translation and 

interpretation services when needed. The 

Council also ensures that information is 

accessible and available in other formats 

such as large print, tape and Braille, as 

needed. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neither positive or 
negative 

The implications of the policy will not 
differentiate people on this basis. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Positive The policy recognises that domestic 
abuse can include so called ‘honour’ 
violence, female genital mutilation and 
forced marriage.  This sometimes occurs 
within families in certain religions and 
cultures, most commonly people of a 
Middle Eastern; South Asian or African 
origin. 
 
The policy sets out the specialist advice 
and assistance available to domestic 
abuse victims. 

Sex 
 
 
   

Positive The policy highlights that females are at a 
higher risk of being victims of domestic 
abuse. 
 
In the implementation of the policy, 
victims will be offered gender specific 
services, where available eg. an all 
female refuge or male domestic abuse 
victim support services. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Positive A person who’s sexual orientation is 
anything other than heterosexual can be 
at a higher risk of domestic abuse from 
within their own families and this is 
especially the case in some religions and 
cultures eg. where ‘honour’ violence 
occurs. 
 

There are similar rates of domestic abuse 
within LGBTQ+ relationships as in 
domestic abuse against heterosexual 
women. The problem is underreported 
with people often afraid of revealing their 
sexual orientation or the nature of their 
relationship. 

128



5 

 

 
The policy sets out the specialist advice 
and assistance available to LGBTQ+ 
domestic abuse victims. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Positive Women during pregnancy and maternity 
can feel especially vulnerable and 
trapped where there is an abusive 
relationship.   

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neither positive or 
negative 

The implications of the policy will not 
differentiate people on this basis. 

Carers Neither positive or 
negative 

The implications of the policy will not 
differentiate people on this basis. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Positive For people living in rural areas where 

access to wifi and public transport may 

be limited, contact to the Council can be 

made by phone to Housing Services via 

the main switchboard.  Contact can also 

be made via a third party eg: support 

worker; police officer; friend or relative.   

General 
comments 

The operational procedures and high level of training for staff 
will assist with identifying abuse, completing risk assessments 
and referring people for appropriate support and assistance. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Number and type of approaches to the housing services both homeless 
people and tenants. 
 
Various strategies and policy documents including: 
 

129



6 

 

Lincolnshire Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Policy 
 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 
 
South Kesteven Housing Allocations Policy 
 
 
The draft policy will be consulted on and the findings from this will feed into 
the final draft. 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

✓

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 

130



7 

 

 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Jodie Archer 
(Name and title)   Head of Housing Services 
  

Date completed:  13/06/22  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Susie McCahon 
(Name and title)   Leisure and Corporate Operations Team Leader 
 

Date signed off:     06/07/22  
 

131



This page is intentionally left blank



Comment Response
Consultation Response 1 
(Lincolnshire Police) 4.4 – domestic violence used – should this be abuse? Agree, policy amended

6 - do you have an in house policy for staff affected also by DA? Should this be referenced as a responsible 
employer too?

Human Resources team consulted on this.  Decision taken 
not to reference any policy referring to employees.

6.2 g) not sure you need ‘MARAC Conferences’ – the acronym stands for Multi agency risk assessment 
conference – so the conference is a double inclusion. Perhaps for ease it should spell out MARAC in full. Agree, policy amended
6.2 h) – a little harsh on the police response to DA here – could read for example “we will recommend a person 
experiencing domestic abuse contacts the police if they wish” Sentence re-worded to this recommended wording
6.2 h) then also says “However where there is concern is about serious harm a referral will be made to the 
police, and/or MARAC and/or adult/children safeguarding without consent.” Can you clarify what you mean here 
by referral will be made to the police? If we are at MARAC then we will get that information, but what outside of 
this are you suggesting?

Wording changed to "we will recommend a person 
experincing domestic abuse contacts the police, if they 
wish".

6.2 k) what checks do you complete on applicants to identify them as perpetrators of DA? Various checks are made.

6.2.1 – will you evict the perpetrator or focus on trying to move the victim?
This depends on the situation and what is in the best 
interests of those affected by domestic abuse.

6.3.2 – do you know how much am injunction can cost a victim? It is not an ‘easy’ option
We recognise it is not an easy option and may not be 
appropriate in some situations.  Conversation with the 
person from the Police who made these comments took 
place and further information from her was received.

6.3.3 – eviction of Perp – do you recognise that a victim may be under such fear or coercive control that they 
may not be in a position to say that they want to evict the perpetrator for the threats that may have been made 
if they do?

This is recognised and officers receive, and will be 
receiving further, high level training in regards to domestic 
abuse.

Consultation Response 2 
(Lincolnshire County 
Council)

Section 5 Equality and Diversity – like the inclusion of interpreters, however I couldn’t see anything regarding 
domestic abuse and disabilities, we have a lot of reports of carers abusing those experiencing DA or the client 
being in an adapted house and scared they don’t know their options for perp being removed or moving to 
another adapted property if required.

5.1 states how the Council recognises that it deals with a 
diverse range of people including those who are 
vulnerable and in highly stressful personal circumstances".  
The Equality and Diversity section is written to be inclusive 
to all people and not to focus on one cohort of vulnerable 
people.  The officers receive, and will receive further, high 
level training to identify different types of domestic abuse 
and how to identify and support hard to reach people.

Also in section 5.1 – when discussing DA with someone who is experiencing it, to ensure a safe space is sought 
away from the abuser… just a thought if you need to add that in as we still get some professionals having 
conversations in front of abusers which can heighten risk and not give you a true picture of the abuse.

This is covered in 6.2 b

Section 6 c – you need to include DASH as all DA disclosures should be DASH’d by staff to see what is happening 
and what level of risk, if high a DASH AND MARAC should be sent in. Agree, policy amended to include this at 6.2 c

Section 6.3.3 – you talk about eviction of the perpetrator, I am aware that in some circumstances where there is 
a joint tenancy, a court order was required to remove the offender and housing didn’t feel they had much 
powers to remove the abuser. As we know, economic abuse is an issue and CCB so it leaves those experiencing 
DA struggling to find money or time to seek legal advice and go to court to obtain orders. Is this now something 
SKDC will consider doing themselves if there is DA as an option? If so, I don’t think it is clear in the policy that, 
that will be considered.

Each individual situation will be considered and support 
will be given within the legal context and budget available 
to us.

Also in section 6.2 I cannot see anything specific about referring to housing related support services, is this 
something to consider putting in? This is covered in 6.2 c
Also you have put NCDV (can you add their website?) also you have FLOWS if you weren’t aware. NCDV website and FLOWS now included in the policy

I think it’s a good document and your language you use is great. This positive comment is appreciated.

133

A
ppendix T

hree



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

8 November 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Robert Reid, 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property  
 
 

 

 

Contract Award in relation to Social Landlord 

Services  
 

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing 

  Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

Following a fully compliant procurement process, the Council is now in a position to 

award a contract for the surveying and analytical services in relation to Asbestos within 

the council’s housing stock. This report seeks Cabinet approval to award the contract to 

the successful contractor. 

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Approves the Council entering into a contract for Asbestos Surveying and 
Analytical services with Tersus. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

Yes – Appendix 1 under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 -  
financial information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The year 1 cost of this contract can be met from the approved 2022/23 approved 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revenue budget.  The proposed budgets for 

2023/24-2025/26 include an annual budget provision of £400k for asbestos works 

which can be utilised to meet the annual cost of this contract. 

 

Completed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 The proposed award of this contract has followed a fully compliant procurement 

process. 

 

Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring 

Officer 

 

Health and Safety 

 

1.3 The Council has a legal duty under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and 

the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 to manage Asbestos Containing 

Materials (ACM) within all properties and to undertake surveys and remediation 

136



works, where required, in order to maintain the material in a safe condition and 

prevent potential ill health affects arising from ACM’s to all those who may come 

into contact with them, be they residents, staff or third parties acting on behalf of 

SKDC.  

 

Completed by: Phil Swinton Health and Safety Manager 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local 

authority, the Council has statutory and regulatory obligations to maintain and 

repair circa 5,900 properties. 

 

 A key obligation is the effective and compliant management of asbestos related 

risks and compliant removals. The contract is in relation to asbestos surveying 

and analytical services. 

 

2.2 The procurement process was initiated in the summer of 2022, Welland 

Procurement were engaged in the process from the beginning to ensure 

compliance. The procurement was undertaken via the Fusion 21 framework 

through a direct award decision. Fusion 21 worked on a 60/40 basis -Quality and 

Price. 

 

2.3 Asbestos Surveying and Analytical Services contract 

 The contract is to undertake the ongoing surveying of known asbestos and 

analytics of suspected asbestos containing materials found within our housing 

assets. 

 

2.4  The procurement process was initiated in the summer of 2022. Welland 

Procurement were engaged in the process from the beginning to ensure 

compliance. The procurement was undertaken via the Fusion 21 framework 

through a direct award decision. Fusion 21 worked on a 60/40 basis - Quality and 

Price. 

 

2.5 Following engagement with Fusion 21 the number one identified contractor is a 

company called Tersus. 

 

2.6 The Fusion 21 direct award report can be found at Appendix 1 - Fusion 21 

Asbestos Surveying Direct Award Report. This information is exempt under  

 paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 -  

financial information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information). 

 

 

 

137



3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 A compliant procurement process has been undertaken resulting in the 

identification of a supplier to undertake this important aspect of work. 

 

3.2 The current contract is coming to an end and the management of asbestos is one 

of the key elements of ensuring ongoing compliance. 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 Continue with current contractor whose contract will have expired – not 

recommended as there are no contract extension options and asbestos 

management is a key housing compliance theme. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 A fully compliant procurement process has resulted in the identification of a 

supplier that meets the Council’s requirements. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 The Head of Technical Services, Health & Safety and Compliance Manager and 

Welland Procurement were engaged throughout the procurement process. 

 

 

7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix 1 (restricted) - Fusion 21 Asbestos Surveying Direct Award Report 

 

138



Document is Restricted

139

Appendix One
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

8 November 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Visitor Economy 
 
 

 

 

Grantham Parks - Tennis Courts 
 

Report Author 

Michael Chester, Team Leader – Leisure and Open Spaces 

  Michael.chester@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To support a new generation of tennis players at grass roots level and revive public use, 

the purpose of this report is to ensure tennis court provision is available at Wyndham Park 

in Grantham, with agreement to call upon Grantham’s Special Expense Area to set aside 

money to cover gate maintenance and a three-year sinking fund.  It is recommended 

refurbishment of the tennis court at Dysart Park is subject to consideration by Cabinet at a 

future meeting.  

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Provides delegated authority to the Director of Growth and Culture to enter 
into a 15-year leasehold agreement with Grantham Tennis Club in relation 
to the two tennis courts at Wyndham Park Grantham. 

2. Provides delegated authority to the S151 Officer to accept the offer of 100% 
grant funding, in the sum of approximately £57,000, from the Lawn Tennis 
Association to refurbish the two tennis courts in Wyndham Park Grantham. 

3. Provides delegated authority to the S151 Officer to utilise money from the 
Grantham Special Expense Area to cover the sinking fund and gate 
maintenance costs for a three-year period amounting to £8,428. 

147

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Michael.chester@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


4. Requests a review after twelve months from completion of the 
refurbishment at Wyndham Park Grantham, before proceeding into an 
agreement to refurbish the one tennis court in Dysart Park Grantham should 
match funding be made available. 

 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No  

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Healthy and Strong Communities 

Clean and Sustainable Environment 

 

Which wards are impacted? Grantham St Vincent’s Ward 

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s declaration 

of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The Council has identified an opportunity to attract grant funding from the Lawn 

Tennis Association to fully fund a refurbishment of the two public use tennis courts 

in Wyndham Park. As part of the funding arrangements, this will require a 

collaborative approach with Grantham Tennis Club.  The Grantham Tennis Club will 

take on the management and operation of the courts under a leasehold 

arrangement 

 

1.2 If the Council does not wish to proceed with the application for funding, or enter a 

leasehold arrangement with Grantham Tennis Club, funds would have to be 

secured from elsewhere to refurbish the tennis courts.  Without investment, it may 

be necessary to remove the courts from use in the near future if they deteriorate to 

such an extent, they are unsafe to use. 

 

1.3 Prior to signing up to a lease or any grant funding arrangement, the Council will 

need robust arrangements in place to ensure Grantham Tennis Club will continue 

to operate the tennis courts in accordance with the grant terms and conditions.  

 

1.4 The terms of the lease proposed require a financial contribution from the Council of 

£8,428 to cover the first three-year contribution to the sinking fund and gate 

148



maintenance.  This can be funded from the Special Expense Reserve for Grantham.  

From year four Grantham Tennis Club will be responsible for covering the sinking 

fund.  The costs of refurbishment works have been provisionally costed at £57k but 

will be subject to quotation being received.  It has been confirmed that the costs of 

the works will be 100% met by the grant so there will be no expectation that the 

Council will meet any differences between the cost of works and the grant funding.  

 

Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer and S151 Officer 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.5 The Council will need to satisfy itself on the appropriateness of the terms and 

conditions associated with the grant funding and make sufficient arrangements 

that these will be upheld by Grantham Tennis Club. 

 

1.6 Legal advice and support will be required to develop the proposed Lease between 

the Council and Grantham Tennis Club. 

 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer  

 

Health and Safety 

 

1.7 There is a duty under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 to persons other than 

those in the Council’s employment to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, 

that they are not exposed to risks to their health or safety. 

 

1.8 The two courts are approaching their end of life, and should their condition 

deteriorate, this may result in their closure in order to remove the likelihood of risk 

and injury to those using the courts. The condition and suitability are to be kept 

under regular review. 

 

Phil Swinton, Emergency Planning and Health and Safety Lead 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The Council’s Corporate Plan 2020 to 2023 contains the key priorities of investing 

in the health of our local communities and improving our parks and open spaces.  

The three Council owned parks in Grantham are much loved and valued community 

assets, which provide opportunities for residents and visitors to enjoy being in the 

open air and to take part in informal activity. 

 

2.2 As part of the Council’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, which was adopted in 

2021, the Council has committed to increasing the levels of physical activity across 

the district, providing increased opportunities for residents to take up activity and 

removing any barriers to participation. 

 

149



2.3 In Grantham, the Council currently has two public use tennis courts in Wyndham 

Park and one in Dysart Park. All three courts are under-utilised and in need of 

refurbishment due to their age and condition.  The two courts in Wyndham Park are 

of the most concern and without intervention it will be necessary to close them as 

further deterioration to the court surfaces will give rise to health and safety concerns 

in relation to the risk of slips, trips, and falls. 

 

2.4 In 2021 a £30 million package to refurbish 4,500 public tennis courts in deprived 

areas was announced by the Government to support a new generation of tennis 

players at grass roots level.  £22 million was committed by the Government, with an 

additional £8.4 million being provided by the Lawn Tennis Association.  The aim of 

the funding was to revive over 4,500 public park tennis courts at more than 1,500 

venues nationwide, thereby engaging 1 million more players in tennis, and 

supporting health and wellbeing outcomes. 

 

2.5 Across the UK, there are currently 1.7 million adults and many more children who 

play tennis in a local park every year.  Park tennis courts are particularly important 

in providing affordable, engaging, and accessible opportunities for more female 

players, and those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, as well as being the 

most popular venue for women to play after they have left education.  

 

2.6 Insight from the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) shows that just 16% of park users 

are happy with the ability and opportunity to book tennis courts and 40% of people 

are unaware of where their nearest local park tennis facility is. However, three 

quarters of park players report they would be keen to play more often, if barriers 

around court quality, the booking journey and programming were addressed. 

 

2.7 The LTA have approached the Council and Grantham Town Tennis Club with an 

opportunity to invest in, and radically improve, the quality of the tennis courts and 

offer at Wyndham Park.  For the LTA the key benefit of this collaborative approach 

is having the tennis club involved, especially in generating community interest in 

tennis and providing additional activities such as tennis coaching. 

 

2.8 Discussions regarding developing a grant funding application to improve the three 

courts across both Grantham parks, increasing their use and providing wider 

community access, have been ongoing since late 2021. The physical improvements 

identified include upgrading the court playing surfaces, replacing nets, repairing, 

and replacing perimeter fencing, and installing smart access gates. Technical 

surveys have taken place on the courts which identified remedial works totalling 

£101,500.  

 

2.9 As part of the refurbishment plans, use of the courts would be supported by a 

booking system which would be managed by Grantham Tennis Club and available 

online or via an app.  When a booking is made, a six-digit PIN code is provided 

which opens the gate at the time of booking.  

 

150



2.10 Excluding sinking fund and gate operating costs, the two courts at Wyndham Park 

can be fully funded by the LTA under the terms of the fund.  However, it has been 

identified the court at Dysart Park would require match funding of circa £26,000.   

 

2.11 Grantham Tennis Club originally offered to provide the match funding required for 

Dysart Park however, due to the current financial climate, the club are no longer 

able to provide this level of investment.   

 

2.12 In consideration of this, the LTA have confirmed that they would prefer a phased 

approach to the project, undertaking refurbishment of the two courts at Wyndham 

Park initially as phase one, and then reviewing funding arrangements for Dysart 

Park in twelve months as part of phase two. 

 

2.13 An application for grant funding would need to be made by the Council, and for this 

to be successful the LTA have indicated the Council would need to enter into a 

leasehold arrangement with Grantham Tennis Club at a peppercorn rent.  Grantham 

Tennis Club would then be responsible for the management of the two courts and 

provide ancillary community activity. 

 

2.14 Heads of Terms have been drafted by the Council’s Property team and have been 

agreed in principle with Grantham Tennis Club.  Once these are signed off, the LTA 

have confirmed they would instruct contractors to undertake the works at Wyndham 

Park. 

 

2.15 The draft Heads of Terms provide that: 

  

• The term of the lease would be 15 years. 

 

• The required sinking fund of £2,400 per year for the first three years and gate 

operating costs of £156 in year 1 and £536 in years 2 and 3 would be provided by 

the Council.  

 

• From year 4 onwards Grantham Tennis Club would be responsible for the sinking 

fund and gate operating costs. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 As part of the proposed arrangements Grantham Tennis Club have agreed to 

promote the use of the tennis courts to the local community and will be facilitating 

‘Tennis for Free’ which is a scheme where residents can take part in free coaching 

sessions. 

 

3.2 It is essential community access to the courts is affordable, as the main aim of the 

funding is to increase the uptake of tennis as an activity outside of a club 

environment.   As part of the grant funding conditions, pricing and access are to be 

agreed locally and would be set by Grantham Tennis Club.  The LTA recommend a 

151



mixed approach to charging through annual passes, pay & play, and free use.  The 

Grantham Tennis Club have confirmed they are committed to this. 

 

3.3 It is envisaged that work could commence during the early part of 2023 and would 

take between seven to nine days to complete, weather dependant.  The courts 

would then be ready in time for a launch in the spring. 

 

3.4 The works would be managed by the LTA and undertaken by one of their framework 

contractors. The LTA also provide project management support through a Quantity 

Surveyor and a Facility Project Manager.  

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 The Council could provide the capital investment to undertake remedial work to the 

courts and continue to manage them as part of the parks service.  However, given 

the current financial challenges the Council is facing, the opportunity to attract grant 

funding, and work in partnership with Grantham Tennis Club, is fiscally more 

prudent. 

 

4.2 If no investment is made into the two tennis courts in Wyndham Park, it may be 

necessary to take these out of use in the near future.  A removal of community 

facilities would have a reputational impact on the Council. It is for this reason, the 

‘do nothing’ option has been discounted. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The two tennis courts in Wyndham Park are coming towards the end of their 

operational life and could pose a health and safety risk soon if they are not 

refurbished.  The refurbishment works identified represent a significant 

improvement and will provide enhanced opportunities for local residents and visitors 

which align with the Council’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy (2021-2026).   

 

5.2 In order to access the funding proposed from the LTA, it will be necessary to enter 

a leasehold arrangement for the two tennis courts in Wyndham Park with Grantham 

Tennis Club. 

 

5.3 The proposal from the LTA to fully fund the refurbishment investment required for 

the two courts at Wyndham Park as part of a phased approach will provide much 

needed investment for the two courts most in need of renewal.  The opportunity 

exists to explore further funding for the tennis court in Dysart Park in twelve months’ 

time from the completion of the court refurbishment in Wyndham Park. 

 

6. Background Papers 
 

6.1 Sport and Physical Activity Strategy (2021-2026)  

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28041&p=0 

152

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28041&p=0


 

 

 

7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix One – Draft Heads of Terms between the Council and Grantham Tennis 

Club. 

 

 

153



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
Draft Agreement for Lease at 

Wyndham Park and Dysart Park Tennis Courts 
Without Prejudice, Subject to Contract and Board Approval 

 

DATE 19th October, 2022 

PARTY A 

 

 

PARTY A REPRESENTITIVE 

 

 

 

 

PARTY B 

 

PARTY B REPRESENTITIVE 

 

South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, St Peters Hill, Grantham, 

Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ. 

 

Gyles Teasdale/Sharon Haythorn 

Email: 

g.teasdale@southkesteven.gov.uk/s.haythorn@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Grantham Tennis Club Limited 

 

Sarah Patton 

Email: 

manager@granthamtennisclub.co.uk 

 

DEMISE/PREMISES  

 

 

WORKS INCLUDE 

 

 

2x tennis courts at Wyndham Park, Grantham (edged red in Appendix 1) 

fully renovated using Grant funding.  

 

Court surface, fencing and gate entry system will be fully funded by 

LTA/DCMS grant (Approx £57k). 

Removal and rebuild areas identified areas of root damage  
 
Resurface using with 25mm Porous Tarmac Macadam (pierce tac and 
overlay resurface method to aid with future drainage)  
 
New Weldmesh fencing (approx. 122lm) 
 
New nets and posts x 2 
 
SmartGate Entry system (battery powered0 – linked to online court 
booking platform (ClubSpark) 
 
Space for appropriate external signage at the entrances 

Coded access gate to be installed to control court usage. 

 

  

155

Appendix One

mailto:g.teasdale@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.haythorn@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:manager@granthamtennisclub.co.uk


 
TRANSACTION 

 

 

TERM 

 

 

RENT 

 

 

COMMENCEMENT DATE 

 

BREAK OPTION 

 

BREAK NOTICE 

 

RENT REVIEW 

 

RENT REVIEW DATES 

 

 

SITE OPERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SINKING FUND 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SKDC and Grantham Tennis Club Limited will enter into an agreement 

for lease on the following terms: 

 

Terms proposed as below: 

15year service provision (TBC) 

 

Annual rental will be £1.00pa 

 

TBC – On completion of court refurbishment works. 

 

TBC (suggest mutual break on the 5th and 10th anniversaries) 

 

A minimum of 6 months’ notice will be required prior to break dates. 

 

Not applicable 

 

Not applicable 

 

 

Grantham Tennis Club will manage the gate booking system and keep 

all revenue from court usage. 

 
- Opening times are proposed to vary seasonally, as follows:  

                8am-6pm (winter); and  
                8am-9pm (summer)  

- Free community use will be provided every day as follows: 
        10am – 12pm Dysart & 1pm – 3pm Wyndham Park 
- Free coaching will be provided by Grantham Tennis Club 

Limited (duration to be confirmed) 
 
The services will be excluded on bank holidays and other public holidays 

in which the Grantham Tennis Club Limited is closed. 

 

 

The Services and supplies listed below will be provided by Grantham 

Tennis Club Limited to South Kesteven District Council. The cost will be 

set out as an annual figure and recharged as a monthly sum to Grantham 

Tennis Club Limited. 

 

This will include the statutory compliance of the site that are not 
covered by the agreement.  
 

- Gate access maintenance  
- Code Lock Generator  
- Registration fee  
- Court maintenance cost  

 
SKDC to pay contribution to Grantham TC for years 1 -3 for sinking fund 
& operating costs for gate  
 
Year 1 - £2556 
Year 2 - £2936 

156



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MAINTENANCE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

INSURANCE 

 

 

USE 

 

 

 

REPAIRING LIABILITY 

 

Year 3 - £2936 
TOTAL = £8428 
 
See LTA Guidance Note on Court Maintenance document and CIA 
Maintenance and Warranty Cost document for detailed breakdown 
 
Grantham TC to take full responsibility for sinking fund and operating 
costs from year 4 onwards.  
 
The Services and supplies listed below will be provided by SKDC to 

Grantham Tennis Club Limited. Any cost will be set out as an annual figure 

and charged as a monthly sum to Grantham Tennis Club Limited: 

 
- The general maintenance will be organized by SKDC but will be 

re-charged to Grantham Tennis Club Limited.  
- Tennis court surfaces to be cleaned and treated with moss 

killer on an annual basis.  
- Courts to be brushed on a fortnightly basis to remove debris.  
- Leaves to be blown, brushed, and removed off of court surface 

during the autumn months to stop degrading into the surface.  
 
Note:  Re-surfacing etc. will be covered by the sinking fund. 
 
These services will be charged back in full to the Grantham Tennis Club 
Limited. 
 
Grantham TC will hold the maintenance agreement directly with CIA 
Fire & Security for the gate. 
 
The following items will be charged on an ad hoc basis:  

- One off unforeseen repairs/maintenance as necessary. 

 

An annual review of these costs will be carried out as part of the annual 
planning process and any changes will be agreed between Grantham 
Tennis Club Limited and South Kesteven District Council. All parties will 
sign off any changes made to this agreement.  
 
These services will be provided by SKDC during usual working hours of 
Monday to Thursday 8.45am to 5.15pm and Friday 8.45am to 4.45pm. 
The services will be excluded on bank holidays and other public holidays 
in which the SKDC main offices are closed. 
 
South Kesteven District Council will have the right to pass over the 

demised area edged red on the plan for the servicing and repair of plant 

and equipment, subject to 24 hours written notice. 

 
Tenant to be responsible and cover periods of their operation. SKDC will 

be responsible for periods of non-operation. 

 

The demised areas will only be used for the purpose of leisure provision 

as a tennis court. 

 

 

SKDC will be responsible for repair and maintenance of the site. 

 

157



 
 

COURT AREAS 

 

Wyndham Park - 1050-1,100m² (subject to final measurement at 

practical completion) 

 

Dysart Park - 550-600m² (subject to final measurement at practical 

completion) 

 

LEGAL COSTS 

 

Each party to incur their own legal fees. 

 

LANDLORDS SOLICITORS 

 

 

 

 

Legal Services Lincolnshire 

Contact: Tbc on instruction 

Tel: Tbc on instruction 

Email: Tbc on instruction 

TENANTS SOLICITORS 

 

 

ARBITATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tbc 

 

 

Where either party requires a dispute or difference to be referred to 

Arbitration, that party shall serve notice on the other party to such 

effect, identifying the dispute and requiring the other party to a agree 

to the appointment of an arbitrator.  

 

In the case of a dispute regarding the said lease the Arbitrator will be 

the RICS. 

 

 

 

  

  

 

158



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

Date 8 November 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke 
The Leader of the Council  
 
 

 

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 31 October 

2022 to 30 October 2023 
 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

  l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of this report. 

 

 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for 
publication? 

No  

What are the relevant 
corporate priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 
 

159

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information)  (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements 

for publicity in connection with Key Decisions. The Council meets these 

legislative requirements through the monthly publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make 

recommendations to Council or review the contents and take necessary action. 

These items are also listed on the Forward Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, 

items for consideration during the preceding year have been included in the 

Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The Forward Plan also includes details of items 

scheduled for each of the Council meetings due to be held within the plan 

period. 

2.0 Appendices 

2.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan 

 

 

160



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
31 October 2022 to 30 October 2023 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

161



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Housing Compensation Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a 
compensation policy to be used across 
Housing Technical Services and Housing 
Services. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Statement of Licensing Principles 2023-2026 - Key Decision 

The Council is required to review its 
Statement of Licensing Principles every 3 
years. The policy is included in the 
Council’s Policy Framework and is required 
to be statutorily adopted by the Council. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 
Council  
24 Nov 
2022 
 

To recommend to Council 
that the Statement of 
Licensing Principles 2023-
2026 is adopted with or 
without amendments. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director of Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord services - Key Decision 

To seek approval to award a contract for 
the servicing, repair and maintenance of 
heating systems within the Council’s 
assets, including its social housing stock. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 

To approve the award of a 
contract for the servicing, 
repair and maintenance of 
heating systems within the 
Council’s assets, including its 
social housing stock. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy - Key Decision 

To adopt a robust policy around domestic 
abuse in relation to our social landlord 
responsibilities, ensuring that risk 
management is in place. 
 

8 Nov 2022 
 

To seek approval to adopt 
the policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

162



Summary Date Action Contact 

Remediation works for St Martins Park, Stamford - Key Decision 

To seek budget approval for the 
remediation works at St Martins Park, 
Stamford. 
 

Council  
24 Nov 
2022 
 

To seek budget approval for 
the works. 
 

Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development and Growth (Councillor 
Kelham Cooke) 
 
Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and 
Performance 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at first licence) - Key Decision 

To consider the vehicle age at first licence 
criteria in the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

That following the 12 July 
meeting of Cabinet the 
position be reviewed in three 
months, with a view to 
adopting the Government’s 
best practice. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director of Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

A3 Units within the Cinema Building - Key Decision 

To seek approval of scheme. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve scheme. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and 
Performance 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Theatre Roof Replacement Works Stamford Arts Centre - Key Decision 

To seek tender approval for works to 
Stamford Arts Centre Theatre Roof. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve tender. 
 

Cabinet Member for Culture & Visitor Economy 
(Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew) 
 
Procurement Lead 
E-mail: leah.wright@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

163



Summary Date Action Contact 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Key Decision 

To consider the Council’s Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme for the 2023/24 financial 
year. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To recommend to Council the 
Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme for 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Council Tax Base 2023/24 - Budget 

To determine the Council Tax Base to form 
the basis of the 2023/24 budget proposals 
to be recommended to Council. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
Base 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Grounds Maintenance – Future Arrangements - Key Decision 

The report will provide details on the results 
of an option appraisal into future grounds 
maintenance arrangements and consider a 
recommendation from a joint meeting of 
Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
preferred option. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To consider a 
recommendation from a joint 
meeting of Rural and 
Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the 
Council’s future grounds 
maintenance arrangements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for Waste Services and 
Climate Change (Councillor Mark Whittington) 
 
Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure 
E-mail: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

164



Summary Date Action Contact 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - SPD 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Director of Growth and Culture 
E-mail: Nicola.McCoy-
Brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2023/24 - Budget 

To consider the draft budget proposals for 
2023/24. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To agree draft budget 
proposals for 2023/24 for 
consultation. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

 10 Jan 
2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

165



Summary Date Action Contact 

Budget Proposals for 2023/24 - Budget 

To consider the proposed budget for 
2023/24. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 
Council 
1 Mar 2023 
 

To make recommendation to 
Council on the budget 
proposals for 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

HRA Business Plan and Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

7 Mar 2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

166



Summary Date Action Contact 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

23 May 
2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

167



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Statement of Licensing Principles 2023-2026
	Appendix 1 - Draft Gambling Statement 2023-2026
	Appendix 2 - Proposed revisions to the exisiting Gambling Statement of Principles
	Appendix 3 - Consultation report - results of Gambling Statement of Principles
	Appendix 4 - Responses and proposed amendments following consultation
	Appendix 5 - Equality impact statement

	5 Housing Compensation Policy
	Appendix 1  Draft Housing Compensation Policy
	Appendix 2 - EIA - Housing Compensation Policy

	6 Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy
	Appendix 1 - DOMESTIC ABUSE POLICY
	Appendix 2 - Domestic Abuse Policy EIA FINAL
	Appendix 3 - Domestic Abuse Policy Consultation Response table

	7 Contract Award in Relation to Social Landlord Services
	Appendix 1 -  Fusion 21 Asbestos Surveying Direct Award Report

	8 Grantham Park Tennis Courts
	Park Courts - Draft Heads of Terms 191022 RevF

	9 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	FP published 31.10.22


